PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

505 VAN NESS AVENUE SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3298



December 23, 2009

Agenda ID #8406 Ratesetting

TO ALL PARTIES IN RULEMAKING 06-02-012

The revised proposed decision of ALJ Anne E. Simon is enclosed. The revisions address comments filed and served on April 15, 2009, and reply comments filed and served on April 20, 2009, to the initial proposed decision dated March 26, 2009. The revised proposed decision will not appear on the Commission's agenda for at least 30 days after the date it is mailed. The Commission may act then, or it may postpone action until later.

When the Commission acts on the revised proposed decision, it may adopt all or part of it as written, amend or modify it, or set it aside and prepare its own decision. Only when the Commission acts does the decision become binding on the parties.

Parties to the proceeding may file comments on the proposed decision as provided in Article 14 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure (Rules), accessible on the Commission's website at http://www.cpuc.ca.gov. Pursuant to Rule 14.3, opening comments shall not exceed 15 pages.

Comments must be filed either electronically pursuant to Rule 1.13 or with the Commission's Docket Office. Comments should be served on parties to this proceeding in accordance with Rules 1.9 and 1.10. Electronic and hard copies of comments should be sent to ALJ Simon at aes@cpuc.ca.gov and to the assigned Commissioner. The current service list for this proceeding is available on the Commission's website at www.cpuc.ca.gov.

/s/ MICHELLE COOKE for Karen V. Clopton, Chief Administrative Law Judge

KVC:tcg

Attachment

Agenda ID #8406 Ratesetting

Decision REVISED PROPOSED DECISION OF ALJ SIMON (Mailed 12/23/2009)

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Develop Additional Methods to Implement the California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program.

Rulemaking 06-02-012 (Filed February 16, 2006)

(See Appendix E for a list of appearances.)

DECISION AUTHORIZING USE OF RENEWABLE ENERGY
CREDITS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH THE
CALIFORNIA RENEWABLES PORTFOLIO STANDARD

408539 - 1 -

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Title	Page
	ON AUTHORIZING USE OF RENEWABLE ENERGY	
	IS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH THE CALIFORNIA	
	VABLES PORTFOLIO STANDARD	
1.	Summary	
2.	Introduction	
3.	Procedural Background	
4.	Discussion	
	4.1. Authorization	
	4.2. Sources of TRECs	
	4.2.1. Larger-Scale RPS-Eligible Generation	
	4.2.2. Distributed Generation	
	4.2.2.1. WREGIS Requirements for DG	
	4.2.3. Availability of TRECs	21
	4.3. Guiding Principles	
	4.4. REC-Only Transactions	23
	4.5. Market Structure and Rules	
	4.5.1. Staff Straw Proposal	33
	4.5.2. Participants	34
	4.5.3. Limits on Use of TRECs	34
	4.6. Cost Recovery	43
	4.6.1. Contract Approval	43
	4.6.2. Bid Evaluation	45
	4.6.3. TREC Prices	46
	4.6.4. Cost Limitation Provisions	53
	4.6.5. TREC Revenues for the Benefit of Ratepayers	54
	4.7. Transactions subject to §§ 399.16(a)(5) and (6)	
	4.8. Compliance and Reporting	
	4.8.1. Banking	56
	4.8.2. Unbundling of RECs from Future Years of Bundled	
	Contracts	59
	4.8.3. Earmarking of TREC Contracts	
	4.8.4. Use of TRECs to make up prior shortfalls	
	4.8.5. Reporting	
	4.9. Standard Terms and Conditions	
	4.10. Timing Issues	
	4.11. Comparison to March 2009 PD	
	4.12. Next Steps	

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Cont'd)

Title	Page
5. Comments on Proposed Decision	
6. Assignment of Proceeding	69
Findings of Fact	69
Conclusions of Law	
ORDER	75
Appendix A – Section 399.16 – Use of Renewable Credits to Satisfy the Requored of the Renewable Portfolio Standard	iirements
Appendix B - Staff Straw Proposal	
Appendix C - New and Revised Standard Terms and Conditions	
Appendix D - Summary of TREC Rules Announced in This Decision	
Appendix E – List of Appearances	

DECISION AUTHORIZING USE OF RENEWABLE ENERGY CREDITS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH THE CALIFORNIA RENEWABLES PORTFOLIO STANDARD

1. Summary

This decision authorizes the procurement and use of tradable renewable energy credit (TRECs) for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard (RPS) program. It also delineates the structure and rules for a TREC market and for the integration of TRECs into the RPS flexible compliance system.

The use of TRECs for RPS compliance will provide more options and flexibility for RPS-obligated load-serving entities to comply with RPS mandates in both the near and longer term. Over time, it will also provide additional flexibility and incentives for the development of RPS-eligible generation by supplying useful revenue options for generation developers.

The market and compliance rules are developed with a view to simplicity, transparency, fairness, and ease of administration. These market and compliance structures are intended to remain the framework for the use of TRECs into the future. Although the TREC market may be modest in the next two or three years, the market rules put in place in this decision will both allow a new market to develop and provide robust rules for a mature TREC market.

The rules create a market in which participation in TREC transactions is not restricted, though participants must meet the requirements set forth by this Commission for TREC trading, as well as any requirements for participation set by the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System. The decision clarifies that transactions with RPS-eligible renewable generation for which the first point of interconnection with the Western Electricity Coordinating Council (WECC) interconnected transmission system is not physically located within

California and is also not a facility for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC interconnected transmission system lies in the California Independent System Operator or another California balancing authority area will be considered REC-only procurement for RPS compliance purposes.

In order to promote market liquidity while preserving the value of TRECs for RPS procurement planning, the decision requires that TRECs must be committed to use for RPS compliance within three calendar years of the date the electricity associated with the TRECs was generated. Once committed to RPS compliance, TRECs will be treated in substantially the same way as bundled energy purchases for reporting and compliance purposes. This includes application of most flexible compliance mechanisms, with the principal exception that only some TREC contracts may be earmarked for use to make up RPS procurement shortfalls. In order to promote a robust TREC market, the decision allows TRECs from future years of existing RPS contracts to be unbundled and sold under certain conditions.

To maximize the benefit of RPS-eligible generation to California customers, this decision provides a temporary limit on the use of TRECs to meet RPS procurement obligations. Under this limit, the three large California utilities may use TRECs to meet no more than 40 percent of their annual RPS procurement obligations. To protect ratepayers from excessive payments for TRECs in the early stages of the TREC market, the decision imposes a transitional price cap of \$50/REC for RECs used for RPS compliance by all investor-owned utilities. The Commission will review both limits within the next two years.

In order to facilitate the integration of TRECs into the RPS program, this decision authorizes Energy Division staff to begin a process of revising the RPS compliance documents and reporting protocols.

Finally, the decision sets forth two standard terms and conditions (STCs) related to RECs that must be used in all RPS contracts and one additional STC governing Commission approval of REC-only contracts.

2. Introduction

In Pub. Util. Code § 399.11,¹ the Legislature set up the renewables portfolio standard (RPS) program

[i]n order to attain a target of generating 20 percent of total retail sales of electricity in California from eligible renewable energy resources by December 31, 2010, and for the purposes of increasing the diversity, reliability, public health and environmental benefits of the energy mix. . . (§ 399.11(a).)²

Footnote continued on next page

¹ RPS legislation is codified at Pub. Util. Code §§ 399.11-399.20. Unless otherwise indicated, all subsequent citations to sections refer to the Public Utilities Code, and citations to rules refer to the Rules of Practice and Procedure, which are codified at Chapter 1, Division 1 of Title 20 of the California Code of Regulations.

² The Legislature also described the benefits to be expected from the RPS program:

⁽b) Increasing California's reliance on eligible renewable energy resources may promote stable electricity prices, protect public health, improve environmental quality, stimulate sustainable economic development, create new employment opportunities, and reduce reliance on imported fuels.

⁽c) The development of eligible renewable energy resources and the delivery of the electricity generated by those resources to customers in California may ameliorate air quality problems throughout the state and improve public health by reducing the burning of fossil fuels and the associated environmental impacts and by reducing in-state fossil fuel consumption.

⁽d) The California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program is intended to complement the Renewable Energy Resources Program administered by the

In Senate Bill (SB) 107 (Simitian), Stats. 2006, ch. 464, the Legislature gave this Commission express authority to allow the use of TRECs for RPS compliance. Section 399.16 provides both the authorization and several conditions on its exercise.³

This decision implements this authorization in light of the overarching purposes of the RPS program. It seeks to improve compliance opportunities for RPS-obligated load-serving entities (LSEs) and to provide incentives for the construction of new RPS-eligible generation. The decision builds on several years of experience with planning, procurement, reporting, and compliance in the use of bundled energy contracts (contracts for delivery of energy and renewable energy credits (RECs)) for RPS compliance. It relies on the tools provided by the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System (WREGIS) for recording, tracking, and trading tradable renewable energy credits (TRECs) in order to develop the market rules and integrate the use of TRECs into the RPS compliance framework.

3. Procedural Background

The history of the consideration of the use of TRECs in the RPS program was presented in detail in Decision (D.) 08-08-028 and will not be repeated here. This section addresses the procedural steps in this proceeding.

Rulemaking (R.) 06-02-012, the Order Instituting Rulemaking (OIR) for this proceeding, was issued in the framework of the original RPS legislation, SB 1078

State Energy Resources Conservation and Development Commission and established pursuant to Chapter 8.6 (commencing with Section 25740) of Division 15 of the Public Resources Code.

³ For ease of reference, § 399.16 is reproduced as Appendix A.

(Sher), Stats. 2002, ch. 516. In the OIR, the Commission identified TRECs as an important component of the proceeding. The Scoping Memo and Ruling of Assigned Commissioner (April 28, 2006) set out a number of issues related to TRECs, and assigned them to the second portion of this proceeding.

A staff white paper, "Renewable Energy Certificates and the California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program" (REC white paper), was published April 20, 2006.⁴ Comments on the REC white paper were filed in late May 2006; reply comments were filed on June 14, 2006.⁵

Among other things, the REC white paper set out definitions of terms that have been used throughout the subsequent consideration of the use of RECs for RPS compliance. The Commission adopted the white paper's definitions of "unbundled" RECs and "tradable" RECs in D.06-10-019:

Under an unbundled REC regime, claim over the renewable attributes of energy produced by eligible renewable technologies can be transferred from the renewable generator to one LSE

Reply comments were filed by Central California Power, CEERT, GPI, Aglet, Pilot Power, AReM, SDG&E, SCE, MU, UCS, TURN, PG&E, Powerex, and IEP.

⁴ The REC white paper may be found at http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/word_pdf/REPORT/55606.doc.

⁵ Comments were filed by Central California Power; Sustainable Conservation; Powerex Corp.; California Solar Energy Industries Association (CalSEIA), Clean Power Markets, Inc., PV NOW, Vote Solar Initiative (jointly); Pacific Gas & Electric Company (PG&E); Mountain Utilities (MU); Division of Ratepayer Advocates (DRA); Southern California Edison Company (SCE); San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E), Pilot Power Group, Inc.; Alliance for Retail Energy Markets (AReM), Western Power Trading Forum (WPTF) (jointly); Aglet Consumer Alliance (Aglet); Green Power Institute (GPI); Center for Energy Efficiency and Renewable Technologies (CEERT); Independent Energy Producers Association (IEP); Union of Concerned Scientists (UCS); The Utility Reform Network (TURN); and California Large Energy Consumers Association and California Manufacturers and Technology Association (jointly).

while the energy is delivered to another. However, once this transfer occurs, claim over the attributes cannot be resold. In contrast, under a tradable REC regime, although the concept of selling the energy and claim over the attributes to different parties remains intact, RECs may be transferred from the renewable generator to any third party, not just obligated LSEs. In addition, these attributes can be resold subsequent to the initial sale.⁶

In D.06-10-019, the Commission decided not to authorize the use of unbundled RECs for RPS compliance at that time. We stated that we would consider the use of unbundled and/or tradable RECs later in this proceeding.⁷

The Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling of Assigned Commissioner (December 29, 2006) (Amended Scoping Memo) revised the tasks for this proceeding, in light of prior work and the enactment of SB 107, effective January 1, 2007. The Amended Scoping Memo identified three areas related to TRECs:

- Exploring the use of tradable RECs for RPS compliance by all RPS-obligated LSEs, including determining what attributes should be included in a REC;
- Determining the appropriate treatment of RECs associated with energy generated by renewable customer-side distributed generation, after examination of two important issues measurement of renewable output from customer-side

_

⁶ REC white paper, at 1, n. 1; D.06-10-019, at 33.

⁷ In view of our decision to authorize the use of tradable RECs, we will not use the category of "unbundled REC" in this decision. We will refer to transactions in which only TRECs (not energy) are bought or sold as "TREC transactions" or "REC-only transactions." If the context requires a reference to "RECs" because, for example, the RECs were procured through a bundled contract, the RECs so referenced should be presumed to be tradable (unless they are RECs governed by §§ 399.16(a)(5) or (6), as explained in § 4.7, below).

distributed generation, and analysis of the impact of ratepayer subsidies of renewable distributed generation — in R.06-03-004; and

• Determining the status of RECs associated with renewable energy generated by qualifying facilities (QFs) under contract with California utilities.

The Second Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling of Assigned Commissioner (February 25, 2008) noted several developments related to the use of TRECs for RPS compliance since the issuance of the Amended Memo. These changes resolved some of the previously identified issues, added new tasks, and moved other issues forward.

In D.07-01-018, issued in R.06-03-004, the Commission determined that RECs associated with customer-side renewable distributed generation (DG) belong to the DG system owner, irrespective of participation in net energy metering, the California Solar Initiative, or the Self Generation Incentive Program.

SB 107 resolved the status of RECs for renewable energy generated by QFs by prohibiting the creation of RECs associated with energy generated by QFs under contracts pursuant to the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 (Public Law 95-617) (PURPA) executed after January 1, 2005. It also allowed the creation of RECs associated with energy generated under any contract with a California RPS-obligated LSE or publicly owned utility (POU) prior to January 1, 2005 only if the contract explicitly addressed the ownership of RECs.⁸

SB 107 also added the requirement that, in order for us to authorize the use of TRECs for RPS compliance, this Commission and the California Energy

⁸ Pub. Util. Code §§ 399.16(a)(6), (5).

Commission (CEC) must each make a determination that the CEC's RPS tracking system (including WREGIS) is ready to support the use of tradable RECs for RPS compliance.⁹ Staff of the two agencies jointly produced a report. The joint staff report was adopted by this Commission in Resolution (Res.) E-4178 (November 21, 2008).¹⁰ It was adopted by the CEC at its business meeting on December 3, 2008.¹¹

Energy Division staff held a comprehensive workshop on TRECs and RPS compliance on September 5-7, 2007 (TRECs workshop).¹² Parties filed and served pre-workshop comments on August 17, 2007.¹³ After the workshop, staff prepared a revised straw proposal (Straw Proposal) covering a number of TREC market and compliance issues. The Straw Proposal was circulated to parties with the Administrative Law Judge's (ALJ) Ruling Requesting Post-Workshop

⁹ Section 399.16(a)(1).

¹⁰ The resolution and attached final report are available at http://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/WORD_PDF/FINAL_RESOLUTION/94349.PDF.

¹¹ See http://energy.ca.gov/2008publications/CEC-300-2008-001/CEC-300-2008-001-CMF.PDF.

The workshop notice and the assigned administrative law judge's rulings seeking pre-workshop and post-workshop comments were circulated to the service lists in this proceeding, R.06-05-027 (RPS administration), R.06-03-004 (distributed generation and California Solar Initiative), and R.06-04-009 (greenhouse gas policy). The workshop presentations are available at http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/PUC/energy/electric/RenewableEnergy/misc/recpresentation

http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/PUC/energy/electric/RenewableEnergy/misc/recpresentations.htm.

¹³ Pre-workshop comments in response to the ALJ's Ruling Requesting Pre-Workshop Comments on Tradable Renewable Energy Credits (July 19, 2007) were filed by Central California Power; Powerex, Solar Alliance; PacifiCorp; CEERT; Sustainable Conservation; AReM and WPTF (jointly); CalpinePowerAmerica-CA, LLC (Calpine); Coral Power, LLC; SDG&E; Aglet; IEP; PG&E; UCS; SCE; GPI; PPM Energy, Inc.; CPV Renewable Energy Company, LLC; and Sempra Energy Solutions.

Comments on Tradable Renewable Energy Credits (October 16, 2007) (post-workshop ruling). Post-workshop comments were filed on November 13, 2007.¹⁴ Post-workshop reply comments were filed on December 5, 2007.¹⁵

At the prehearing conference held December 10, 2007, some parties suggested that parties interested in the subject might try to develop a consensus recommendation on the definition and attributes of a TREC. Informal discussions among the parties were publicized to the service lists in this proceeding, R.06-05-027, R.06-03-004, and R.06-04-009. The discussions did not result in the filing of any recommendations on this topic. On May 9, 2008, the Center for Resource Solutions (CRS) filed a Motion for Leave to File Additional Comments related to REC definition and attributes. This motion was granted by an ALJ's ruling on June 6, 2008. The ruling allowed reply comments to be filed

_

¹⁴ Post-workshop comments were filed by PG&E; GPI; Powerex; SDG&E; Golden State Water Company; IEP; Pilot Power; Central California Power; EcoSecurities; DRA; CEERT; Calpine Corporation and Calpine (jointly); AReM and WPTF (jointly); MU; SCE; TURN; PacifiCorp; California Farm Bureau Federation and Sustainable Conservation (jointly); Solar Alliance and CalSEIA (jointly).

¹⁵ Post-workshop reply comments were filed by Central California Power; PacifiCorp; Aglet; UCS; California Farm Bureau Federation, Inland Empire Utilities Agency, Sustainable Conservation (jointly); Recurrent Energy, Inc., Solar Alliance, CalSEIA (jointly); Calpine Corporation and Calpine (jointly); TURN; IEP; AReM; SCE; MU; CEERT; SDG&E; DRA; GPI; and PG&E.

¹⁶ Parties were notified informally by e-mail on May 28, 2008.

not later than June 11, 2008.¹⁷ Following this round of comments, the Commission issued D.08-08-028, on the definition and attributes of a REC.¹⁸

Several significant developments have occurred since the TRECs workshop, including issuance of D.08-08-028; ongoing implementation of the California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006; Assembly Bill (AB) 32 (Núñez/Pavley), Stats. 2006, ch. 488; and the CEC's revisions to its criteria for delivery of RPS-eligible generation in its *Renewables Portfolio Standard Eligibility Guidebook* (*Eligibility Guidebook*), at 23-26 (3d ed. December 19, 2007). In order to allow parties an opportunity to update their positions on TRECs, the ALJ issued a Ruling Requesting Supplemental Comments on the Use of Tradable Renewable Energy Credits for the Renewables Portfolio Standard Program (supplemental comment ruling) on September 4, 2008. Comments were filed on September 12, 2008²⁰ and reply comments were filed September 18, 2008.

¹⁷ Reply comments were filed on June 11, 2008 by AReM and WPTF (jointly; collectively, AReM); DRA; GPI; IEP; SCE, PG&E, PacifiCorp, Sierra Pacific, and SDG&E (jointly; collectively, IOUs); Solar Alliance and CalSEIA; TURN; and UCS.

Although the definition of a REC is central to the tradability of a REC, the details of D.08-08-028 are largely not relevant to this decision. One convention that should be kept in mind throughout the discussion, however, is that one REC represents the environmental and renewable attributes associated with one megawatt-hour (MWh) of RPS-eligible generation. See WREGIS Operating Rules, section 2, which may be found at http://www.wregis.org/content/blogcategory/26/47/.

¹⁹ The *Eligibility Guidebook* is available at http://www.energy.ca.gov/2007publications/CEC-300-2007-006/CEC-300-2007-006/ED3-CMF.PDF.

²⁰ Comments were filed by Aglet, AReM, Bear Valley Electric Service (BVES), Calpine, CEERT, DRA, GPI, Horizon Wind Energy and Iberdrola Renewables (jointly; collectively, Horizon), IEP, MU, PG&E, PacifiCorp, Powerex, SDG&E, SMUD, SCE, UCS, and Wal-Mart.

A proposed decision (PD) on the use of TRECs was issued for comment on October 29, 2008. That PD was withdrawn March 26, 2009 and a new PD was issued the same day. Comments on the PD issued March 26, 2009 (March PD) were filed on April 15, 2009.²² Reply comments were filed on April 20, 2009.²³

The March PD has been revised in light of comments and subsequent Commission decisions. In view of the passage of time since March 2009, this revised proposed decision is being circulated for a full period of comments and reply comments.

Finally, the Assigned Commissioner's Ruling Transferring Consideration of Certain Issues from R.06-02-012 to R.08-08-009 (April 3, 2009) transferred all issues remaining in this proceeding other than those addressed in this decision to R.08-08-009.²⁴

- a. The revision of utilities' least-cost best-fit methodologies to include evaluation of REC-only contracts.
- b. The process of approval of utilities' bundled energy and REC-only short-term contracts (whether bilateral or the result of solicitations) and long-term bilateral contracts.
- c. The development of price benchmarks for evaluating the reasonableness of utilities' short-term bundled contracts (whether bilateral or the result of solicitations) and long-term bilateral bundled contracts.

²¹ Reply comments were filed by Aglet, AReM, IEP, Large-scale Solar Association, PG&E SCE, SDG&E, TURN, and UCS.

²² Comments were filed by Aglet, BVES, SCE, PacifiCorp, Solar Alliance, NaturEner USA LLC, CEERT, SDG&E, Evolution Markets, Inc., AReM and WPTF (jointly; collectively, AReM), UCS, SMUD, IEP, Horizon, PG&E, DRA, TURN, GPI, and Large-Scale Solar Association.

²³ Reply comments were filed by Aglet, Iberdrola, PacifiCorp, PG&E, AReM, MU, BVES, Large Scale Solar Association, SCE, UCS, CEERT, and NaturEner.

²⁴ The transferred issues are:

4. Discussion

The RPS statute authorizes but does not require this Commission to allow the use of TRECs for RPS compliance, subject to certain statutorily-imposed conditions. It also provides specific direction on the treatment of several aspects of the use of TRECs for RPS compliance. Since the specific statutory guidance is relevant only if the use of TRECs is authorized, we begin with the issue of whether to authorize the use of TRECs for RPS compliance.

4.1. Authorization

The statute does not set out any criteria or standards by which this

Commission should judge whether to authorize the use of TRECs, thus leaving
this fundamental matter in our discretion. Almost all parties urge that the use of
TRECs for RPS compliance be authorized. They advance a variety of reasons,
focused on facilitating RPS compliance and promoting development of new RPSeligible generation. Several parties assert that the use of TRECs will allow RPS
procurement to avoid problems of transmission congestion.²⁵ Some parties
argue that the availability of TRECs will make the overall RPS procurement
process more efficient, by providing LSEs with additional options for
procurement.²⁶ According to some parties, the use of TRECs will make it easier
for RPS-obligated LSEs²⁷ to achieve their annual procurement targets (APTs).²⁸

The latter two issues were resolved in D.09-06-050, with the exception of short-term REC-only contracts. The first is still pending in R.08-08-009.

Footnote continued on next page

²⁵ AReM, Central California Power, and IEP.

²⁶ AReM, Horizon, PacifiCorp, SDG&E, PG&E.

²⁷ RPS-obligated LSEs comprise regulated utilities, community choice aggregators (CCAs), and electric service providers (ESPs). In this decision, utilities are sometimes referred to in groupings of "large utilities" (PG&E, SCE, SDG&E), "small utilities" (Bear

With the use of TRECs, overall compliance costs for RPS-obligated LSEs should be lower, some parties claim.²⁹ Finally, some parties assert, the availability of a revenue stream from TRECs and options that it may create for developers will promote development of new RPS-eligible generation.³⁰

DRA and TURN are skeptical about the use of TRECs for RPS compliance; Aglet opposes it outright. These parties believe that use of TRECs will not improve the RPS program and is unlikely to lead to development of new RPS-eligible generation.

TURN and DRA express concern that the TREC pricing experience in other jurisdictions suggests that TREC prices are likely to be volatile. This would harm consumers and would not provide reliable financing for new renewable projects. Aglet, DRA and TURN suggest that the use of TRECs would lead to a market that overpays for TRECs from existing facilities, and thus would harm consumers and not contribute to new generation. Aglet asserts that the availability of transmission is a major constraint for the development of new RPS-eligible generation; TRECs can not solve that problem, because a new generation facility will not be built if transmission is not available. Both TURN and Aglet express concern that reliance on TRECs rather than long-term bundled contracts will reduce what they describe as the physical hedging value of RPS

Valley Electric Service and Mountain Utilities), and "multi-jurisdictional utilities" (PacifiCorp and Sierra Pacific).

²⁸ AReM, IEP, PG&E, and SDG&E. GPI and UCS are less certain, but suggest this could be a benefit.

²⁹ CEERT, IEP, PG&E, and SDG&E.

³⁰ AReM, CEERT, Coral Power, Horizon, IEP, PG&E, and SDG&E.

procurement. TURN also raises questions about possible hoarding of TRECs and exercise of market power within the TRECs market.

Several of the TREC proponents' arguments are somewhat overstated and do not acknowledge some real problems. It is true that TRECs can expand RPS compliance options, but without new RPS-eligible generation, a robust TREC market to deliver TRECs for RPS compliance will not develop quickly. It is true that TRECs can allow transfer of RPS credit without regard to constrained transmission pathways, but only if there are both RPS-eligible generation to produce the energy associated with the REC and new transmission pathways for the electricity. Current RPS flexible compliance rules also allow LSEs to take delivery of RPS-eligible energy anywhere in the state, thus reducing the impact of transmission constraints.

The TREC skeptics, on the other hand, focus solely on negative possibilities, such as hoarding of TRECs and loss of interest in the development of new RPS-eligible generation in California. They also argue that consumers may be harmed by high or volatile TREC prices, and TURN proposes measures to mitigate those harms. But TURN does not appear to have confidence that the mitigation strategies it proposes will have a positive impact.

Considering all the arguments, the benefits of allowing the use of TRECs for RPS compliance substantially outweigh the potential harms. Greater compliance flexibility, procurement efficiency, and potentially lower costs are real benefits, even if they may be relatively small in the early years of a TREC market. The availability of a revenue stream from TRECs may encourage new renewable development. Though many other factors, such as transmission siting, are also important determinants of new renewable development, the possibility of more money, or money arranged more flexibly, is only a plus for

possible development. Furthermore, a TREC market will provide important pricing information to developers and the investment community, potentially providing them greater confidence in the long-term financial viability of renewable energy projects.

The possible negative consequences of TRECs, such as high payments to existing facilities, market manipulation, or high prices, can be mitigated or removed by the rules this Commission sets for the use of TRECs and the design of the TREC market. Additionally, some of these problems, specifically high payments to existing facilities, are not inherent or unique to TRECs, but are problems that can exist in a bundled regime as well. Such issues might be better resolved through changes in the relevant statutes or guidelines governing RPS eligibility. This decision sets rules to allow the best chance for a healthy TREC market to develop and aid in the attainment of California's RPS goals.

We therefore exercise the discretion granted to this Commission in § 399.16(a) to authorize the use of tradable RECs for RPS compliance, in accordance with the rules set forth in this decision.³¹

4.2. Sources of TRECs

Our decision to authorize the use of TRECs for RPS compliance is not based on any estimate of the probable quantity of TRECs that may be available in the near term. A brief review of that topic can, however, usefully inform our

This authorization is qualified by the restrictions on the use of RPS-eligible generation from facilities with contracts with California LSEs or POUs prior to 2005 in which the ownership of RECs is not specified, and from QFs with contracts pursuant to PURPA signed after January 1, 2005. (§§ 399.16(a)(5),(6).) These restrictions are discussed further in § 4.7 below.

design of any interim, transitional rules or requirements for the market and for the RPS flexible compliance regime.

Parties were asked to present their best quantitative estimates of the sources of TRECs that could be available for California RPS compliance in the period ending January 1, 2012. From those estimates it is possible to develop a broad-brush picture of the TREC landscape for the near future.

4.2.1. Larger-Scale RPS-Eligible Generation

Calpine suggests that essentially all RPS-eligible generation in California that is or will be capable of delivering energy by the end of 2010 is already under contract to one of the large investor-owned utilities (IOUs). This assertion is not disputed.

In response to a question posed in the ALJ's post-workshop ruling, several parties provided estimates, of varying precision, of possible sources of TRECs for the period until the end of 2011. Evolution Markets and UCS submitted the most substantial information, which was reasonably consistent. Evolution Markets estimates that existing RPS-eligible wind and biomass facilities in the Northwest might provide up to 1,100 megawatts (MW) of RPS-eligible nameplate capacity, while planned new geothermal, wind, biomass or biogas generation throughout the Western Electricity Coordinating Council (WECC) region could provide up to 7,500 MW of nameplate capacity. UCS estimates that the Northwest might supply up to 4,000 MW of new nameplate capacity. The timeframe within which any of the projects included in these estimates might be built, however, is not clear. Nor is it possible for the parties to suggest what proportion of such new generation might be available to California LSEs, whether in the form of bundled energy contracts or REC-only purchases.

Other parties³² point to smaller and more diffuse potential sources. These include small hydropower generation, excess renewable generation from POUs, or RPS-eligible QFs whose contracts under PURPA with large utilities expire and are not renewed, but which still will produce RPS-eligible generation.³³

PG&E and SCE each state that new merchant RPS-eligible generation is not a reasonable source of TRECs prior to 2012 because of the long lead time needed to make the business decision to build a merchant plant and to design and develop the project. SCE also notes that the large IOUs are unlikely to be in a position to sell RECs to other LSEs prior to attaining the 20% goal. No party disputes these comments.

4.2.2. Distributed Generation

AReM, BVES, PG&E, SCE, and TURN suggest that various forms of distributed generation (DG) may provide some available TRECs, though not at a very large scale over the next few years.

There are several types of renewable DG projects. These include on-site RPS-eligible generation at customers; solar photovoltaic (PV) installations, largely constructed under the aegis of the California Solar Initiative (CSI) and the Self Generation Incentive Program (SGIP) administered by this Commission and the New Solar Homes Partnership (NSHP) administered by the CEC; generation using biodiesel or biogas; and small biomass facilities.³⁴

³² These parties include AReM, BVES, DRA, IEP, SDG&E, and TURN.

³³ Pursuant to § 399.16(a)(6), RPS-eligible generation from a QF under a PURPA contract may count for RPS compliance, but may not be the basis of a TREC.

³⁴ Formal determination of the RPS eligibility of types of generation or particular systems is made by the CEC. The most current statement of CEC guidance is the *Eligibility Guidebook*, (3d ed., December 2007), available at

The availability of TRECs from such installations has been addressed in a variety of contexts. In D.07-01-018, the Commission determined that owners of DG installations own the RECs associated with the generation, and can therefore sell them, regardless of whether the DG owners participate in net metering, CSI, or the SGIP.³⁵ In D.07-07-027 and D.08-09-033, implementing § 399.20, the Commission provided for tariffs or standard contracts for utilities' bundled purchase of RPS-eligible generation from DG of not more than 1.5 MW in size located at public water and wastewater facilities and other customers, with an overall statewide limit on such purchases. The generation so acquired counts toward the utilities' RPS targets. In this program, customers may sell to the utility either the full output of the DG facility (energy and RECs) or only the excess (energy and RECs) not used for on-site consumption. In the latter case, the RECs associated with the energy used on-site remain with the system owner.³⁶

http://www.energy.ca.gov/2007publications/CEC-300-2007-006/CEC-300-2007-006-ED3-CMF.PDF. The *Eligibility Guidebook* provides that "[t]he Energy Commission will not certify distributed generation facilities as RPS-eligible unless the CPUC authorizes tradable RECs to be applied toward the RPS." (at 18.)

We anticipate that the CEC will review the issue of the RPS eligibility of DG during its next revision of the *Eligibility Guidebook*.

http://www.energy.ca.gov/2008publications/CEC-300-2008-006/CEC-300-2008-006.PDF.

³⁶ TRECs from RPS-eligible DG installations that are tracked in WREGIS are, for RPS compliance purposes, the same as TRECs from RPS-eligible utility-scale generation. No matter the type of DG generation or the kind of transaction, RECs associated with RPS-eligible DG—like RECs from any other RPS-eligible generation—"shall be counted only

Footnote continued on next page

The CEC has likewise determined that RECs associated with customer-side DG belong to the DG system owner, irrespective of participation in the NSHP. See *New Solar Homes Partnership Guidebook* (revised 2d edition August 2008), at 7-8. This guidebook is available at

AReM states that the CSI program estimates that the program will have installed about 800 gigawatt hours (GWh) of generation by 2010. AReM additionally estimates that CSI will have provided incentives for approximately 1,100 GWh by 2011. No other party provides quantitative DG estimates. ³⁷

4.2.2.1. WREGIS Requirements for DG

In order for RECs from any source to be available for RPS compliance, they must be recognized in WREGIS. The requirements for WREGIS are set forth in the WREGIS Operating Rules (June 4, 2007).³⁸ Several of the rules have implications for the availability of RECs from DG installations for RPS compliance. WREGIS can not register a system smaller than one kilowatt, so some owners of very small DG systems may not be able to participate.³⁹ Another WREGIS rule states that RECs cannot be recognized in WREGIS unless the energy associated with the RECs is metered to an accuracy of +/-2%.⁴⁰ DG

once for compliance with the renewables portfolio standard of this state or any other state, or for verifying retail product claims in this state or any other state." (§ 399.16(a)(2).)

³⁷ In D.09-06-049, the Commission approved a new SCE program to procure RPS-eligible energy from rooftop solar PV installations of one to two MW in size. Because the program is new, it is not currently possible to know what, if any, impact it will have on DG as a resource for RPS procurement over the next two to three years.

³⁸ The Operating Rules may be found at http://www.wregis.org/Documents.php.

³⁹ With respect specifically to solar PV installations, Appendix F to the Operating Rules allows aggregation of rooftop solar installations in certain circumstances. Appendix F may also be found at http://www.wregis.org/Documents.php.

⁴⁰ Operating Rules 9.3.3. The WREGIS rules allow government regulators or voluntary program administrators to make exceptions to this rule.

installations that do not provide metering accuracy to that level are not currently eligible for the creation of a REC in WREGIS (called a WREGIS Certificate).⁴¹

4.2.3. Availability of TRECs

Summarizing this information, it appears that existing RPS-eligible generation is largely already included in utilities' portfolios. Many utility-scale projects are under contract, but are not yet built and delivering energy. The construction of new RPS-eligible generation not located in California is uncertain, and the availability of TRECs from that generation is similarly unknown.⁴² The use of TRECs from new DG installations is dependent both upon the technical requirements of WREGIS and upon whether the DG owner wishes to retain the RECs to support its own green claims. Since TRECs come from RPS-eligible generation, and the supply of new RPS-eligible generation not already committed to RPS compliance is likely to be limited, the supply of TRECs in the next few years will be similarly limited.

4.3. Guiding Principles

Before, during, and after the TRECs workshop, staff offered several proposals, including guiding principles, to provide guidance and food for thought to the parties. Because these staff proposals form the basis for many of

⁴¹ For example, a CSI-subsidized installation taking advantage of the expected performance based buydown (EPBB) program is required to have a meter accurate only to +/-5%. Projects using the CSI performance-based incentives are required to have a meter accurate to +/-2%. Unless the owner of a project with an EPBB incentive voluntarily installs the more accurate (and more expensive) meter, WREGIS would not, under its current rules, allow any RECs to be registered from that facility without an exception authorized by a regulatory agency.

the parties' suggestions and comments, we briefly review them to provide a background for the rules this decision adopts.

The proposed Guiding Principles distributed in the July 19, 2007 ALJ's Ruling Requesting Pre-Workshop Comments are:

- 1. Use of REC trading for RPS compliance should be consistent with the legislative goals for the RPS program.
- 2. REC trading should result in minimal disruption to the current RPS program.
- 3. REC trading should not increase the cost of RPS compliance in the near term, and should lower the cost of RPS compliance over the longer term.
- 4. REC trading should promote development of new infrastructure in California and neighboring states for renewable energy generation.
- 5. REC trading rules, guidelines, and policies should not be inconsistent with the development of a regional REC trading regime.
- 6. REC trading rules, guidelines, and policies should take account of the process of implementing California's greenhouse gas (GHG) reduction policy and the potential for regional or federal programs for GHG reduction.
- 7. REC trading rules, guidelines, and policies should meet the Commission's requirements for REC trading set out in D.03-06-071.
- 8. REC trading rules, guidelines, and policies should be simple, transparent, easily administered, uniformly applied, and equitable to all LSEs.

⁴² Pub. Res. Code § 25741(b)(2)(B) allows RPS-eligible generation from facilities located outside California to count for RPS compliance provided, among other things, the facility began commercial operation after January 1, 2005.

Parties largely support or at least accept these guiding principles as laying the groundwork for thinking about a TREC market. Since these principles do not form the basis for this decision and are not part of the rules for the TREC market, it is not necessary to fine-tune them to accommodate all the views expressed by the parties.⁴³

4.4. REC-Only Transactions

A critical component of authorizing REC-only transactions is identifying the difference between a bundled contract and a REC-only contract. The two types of contracts have some important commonalities. The most important in this context are:

- 1. The energy connected to the transaction must be produced by an RPSeligible generation facility.
 - 2. The energy connected to the transaction must be delivered to California.

The RPS statute provides that RPS procurement requires "receiv[ing] delivered electricity generated by an eligible renewable energy resource. . . . " (§ 399.12(d).) This requirement extends to the electricity associated with RECs; the associated electricity must be "delivered to a retail seller, the Independent System Operator, or a local publicly owned electric utility." (§ 399.16(a)(3).) Statutory definitions provide that RPS-eligible energy is deemed delivered if is either generated at a location within the state, or is scheduled for consumption by California end-use retail customers. Pub. Res. Code § 2741(a).44 The CEC

⁴³ We do, however, note IEP's suggestion that the commitment to equity should be applied to all TREC market participants, not simply LSEs.

⁴⁴ Pub. Res. Code § 25741(a) provides:

may adopt criteria for determining when RPS-eligible energy may be considered "delivered." The CEC has done so in its current *Eligibility Guidebook* (at 22-26).

Because energy must be delivered to California regardless of whether the transaction is a bundled or REC-only contract, the application of the CEC's delivery criteria to transactions with generators not located in California has engendered some controversy in this proceeding. The parties have provided extensive arguments about the significance of the delivery criteria for the RPS program. The focus of parties' comments is the examples of firming and shaping⁴⁵ arrangements for RPS-eligible transactions that are provided in the *Eligibility Guidebook*. ⁴⁶

"Delivered" and "delivery" mean the electricity output of an in-state renewable electricity generation facility that is used to serve end-use retail customers located within the state. Subject to verification by the accounting system established by the commission pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 399.13 of the Public Utilities Code, electricity shall be deemed delivered if it is either generated at a location within the state, or is scheduled for consumption by California end-use retail customers. Subject to criteria adopted by the commission, electricity generated by an eligible renewable energy resource may be considered "delivered" regardless of whether the electricity is generated at a different time from consumption by a California end-use customer.

- ⁴⁵ Firming and shaping are methods of using other generation resources to supplement the delivery of power from intermittent renewable resources. A fuller explanation is provided in Appendix A of the REC White Paper.
- ⁴⁶ In full, the examples are:
 - 1. The facility could provide firming and shaping services. For example, the retail seller could enter into a PPA with an RPS-eligible facility and, as part of the PPA, the facility would provide firming and shaping to deliver a firm or non-firm product into California.
 - 2. A third party could provide firming and shaping services. For example: a retail seller could buy energy and RECs from an RPS-eligible facility and execute a second PPA to resell the energy from the RPS-eligible facility, but not the RECs, to a third party that provides firming and shaping services. Then, the third party could provide the retail seller with a firm schedule for delivery into California.

Footnote continued on next page

Some of the disagreement among the parties about this issue apparently stems from the statement in the *Eligibility Guidebook* that the examples of delivery given there are not intended to "constitute tradable RECs or authorize tradable RECs for RPS compliance." (At 23, n.21.) Since this Commission, not the CEC, has the discretion to authorize the use of tradable RECs for RPS compliance, it is true that the examples in the *Eligibility Guidebook* cannot and do not authorize the use of tradable RECs. Nor do they define different delivery rules for REC-only and bundled contracts, or make a determination about which contracts are REC-only rather than bundled contracts. These limitations do not, however, alter the CEC's guidance about *delivery*.

GPI and UCS each assert in their supplemental comments that this portion of the *Eligibility Guidebook* expands the scope of "delivery" to allow renewable generation that never enters California (whether directly or through conventional firming and shaping arrangements) to count for RPS compliance. They suggest that this will alter the balance of RPS-eligible procurement between facilities located in California and those located in other areas, with an increasing portion of RPS procurement contracts going to facilities located in other states.

TURN argues, following a line of argument made by DRA in protest to some advice letters for RPS contracts,⁴⁷ that the CEC has made the requirement of delivery almost meaningless. According to TURN, the negative consequences

^{3.} The retail seller could provide firming and shaping services. The retail seller could buy energy and RECs from an RPS-eligible facility, sell the energy back to the facility, and "match" the RECs with energy delivery into California from a second PPA and/or with imports under a pre-existing PPA.

Eligibility Guidebook, at 23-24, n. 21.

⁴⁷ TURN cites to DRA's Protest to PG&E Advice Letter 3183-E (January 10, 2008).

of the CEC's criteria include sanctioning the delivery of any kind of power, including coal-fired generation, to be "matched" with a REC to satisfy the delivery requirements. TURN also supports the assertions made by GPI and Aglet that allowing RECs to be so unmoored from their underlying associated energy will increase prices by requiring the purchase of replacement energy (since, in the third *Eligibility Guidebook* example, no additional energy equivalent to the energy associated with the RECs will be delivered into California). TURN additionally argues that this result would undermine one of the principal values of renewable energy generation — promoting price stability.

CEERT, the large utilities, SMUD, Evolution Markets, and NaturEner oppose TURN's position. Several of these parties assert that TURN's analysis is not correct and the CEC has made the correct determinations about delivery. CEERT, NaturEner, and SCE focus on their views that, in any event, the CEC's delivery criteria are not reviewable by this Commission.

We agree that the RPS statute gives the CEC the responsibility to determine RPS eligibility, including establishing the criteria for delivery of RPS-eligible electricity. We therefore do not resolve the dispute among parties in this proceeding about the merits of the CEC's criteria for RPS-eligible energy delivery. The CEC has determined that, for RPS compliance purposes, transactions that meet the delivery criteria set out in the current *Eligibility Guidebook* are RPS-eligible; therefore, they are RPS-eligible.

The CEC's RPS eligibility criteria are not, however, the end of the story. This Commission has exclusive authority over the approval of utilities' RPS procurement contracts (see § 399.14(d)) and over the conditions for the use of TRECs for RPS compliance by all LSEs (see § 399.16(a)(7), (9)). We must bring

our perspective and experience to bear on actual RPS procurement and compliance activities.

Prior versions of the PD focused on the structure of the contract as the basis for clarifying which RPS-eligible deals are, for RPS procurement purposes, REC-only transactions. This approach won support from several parties, but support was far from unanimous. Lack of enthusiasm for this element of the March PD took varied forms, but most parties commenting on the REC-only transaction classification in the March PD argue that the classification determination was complicated and awkward. The large utilities point out that the method in the March PD does not accurately track how electricity is actually bought and sold in the large and complex WECC market. Taken together, the comments suggest that a simpler, more direct method of delineating REC-only transactions would be better.

A sound way to simplify is to make the REC-only classification independent of the details of individual procurement contracts. It is clear that a contract to purchase only RECs from a counter party should be considered

Among parties opposing the classification determination, CEERT and NaturEner argue that the REC-only classification both usurps the authority of the CEC and would create market uncertainty. Evolution Markets argues that the classification was a misguided attempt to manage risk. PG&E asserts that the contract-based classification method was artificial; SDG&E also claims that it was too complex and involved too much analysis of contract details. SCE proposes a different classification method, based on the buying LSE's control over the treatment of the energy in the transaction. SMUD expresses concern about the impact of the classification method on GHG accounting.

TURN argues that the March PD does not provide a firm enough basis for making the bundled transaction/REC-only transaction distinction, which TURN would like strengthened.

⁴⁸ In comments filed in April 2009, DRA, GPI, Iberdrola/Horizon and UCS support the classification determination made in the March PD.

REC-only. Beyond that relatively obvious contractual arrangement, however, contracts can be complex. As the large utilities point out, commercially viable contracts may take many different forms. Although any deal, REC-only or bundled, must comply with the RPS delivery requirements, it is unnecessarily complicated and uncertain to make the classification as REC-only or bundled depend on how the delivery requirement is met. There are many commercially viable delivery options; this Commission should not have to put each one under a microscope in order to determine whether the procurement should be classified as REC-only.

An initial step in simplifying the identification of a REC-only transaction is considering the nature and benefits of REC-only and bundled (REC plus energy) transactions. REC-only transactions provide to California consumers the general benefits of increased use of renewable energy, such as reduction in the emission of greenhouse gases. Use of TRECs as a procurement tool also provides the benefit to the renewable energy market of providing additional flexibility to LSEs and potential additional revenue streams to developers of renewable generation projects.

Transactions that convey both RECs and energy to the procuring LSE also provide more specific and sometimes more local benefits to the customers of the procuring LSE.⁴⁹ Renewable energy procurement in which the energy is physically delivered to the IOU is more likely to obviate the need for reliance on conventional resources in or near the utility's service territory. This can result in local air quality benefits and the attendant public health benefits improved air

-

⁴⁹ Since the vast majority of such procurement is undertaken by IOUs, this discussion focuses on them.

quality provides. Also, as several parties note, fixed price energy contracts such as RPS bundled contracts also reduce the amount of price volatility to which a utility's energy portfolio is subject.⁵⁰

Some RPS procurement transactions that involve both RECs and energy nevertheless are more like REC-only transactions in the benefits they provide and their ability to reduce use of fossil fuel. These transactions involve the delivery of the renewable output to someplace other than the customers of the purchasing California LSE, with the provision of energy to the California customers from other sources, which typically are not renewable resources. Such transactions do not reduce the extent to which the procuring utility is relying on conventional resources, because such resources are used for the physical delivery of energy to the utility. We now turn to the identification of such transactions.

A transparent way to identify a REC-only transaction⁵² for RPS compliance purposes is to rely on direct, physical characteristics of the generation, rather than specifics of contract terms or delivery arrangements. The WECC transmission system is large and complex, but a generator's first point of interconnection with it is fixed.⁵³ An RPS-eligible generator's first point of

Footnote continued on next page

⁵⁰ These benefits, among others, have been identified by the Legislature in § 399.11.

⁵¹ See, e.g., Resolution (Res.) E-4128 (Nov. 16, 2007) and Res. E-4204 (Nov. 21, 2008), approving RPS contracts with firming arrangements using unspecified power.

⁵² That is, a transaction that has not been characterized by the parties to it as REC-only, but that should be treated as REC-only for RPS compliance purposes.

⁵³ In the Overall Program Guidebook for its renewable energy program, the CEC defines "WECC interconnection" as "the substation where radial lines from a given power plant interconnect to the WECC-controlled transmission system." California Energy Commission, Overall Program Guidebook, at 24 (second edition, January 2008).

interconnection with the WECC provides a bright-line criterion that is easy to understand and administer. As a general matter, transactions involving RPS-eligible facilities whose first point of interconnection with the WECC interconnected transmission system is not physically located within California and is also not a facility for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC lies in the California Independent System Operator (CAISO) or another California balancing authority area⁵⁴ does not provide the benefits of physical delivery of renewable energy to California customers, but does provide the more general benefits of renewable generation that are characteristic of REC-only transactions.

Accordingly, all procurement from generators of RPS-eligible energy for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC interconnected transmission system is not physically located within California and is also not a facility for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC interconnected transmission system lies in the CAISO or another California balancing authority area will be considered REC-only procurement for RPS

It is available at http://www.energy.ca.gov/2007publications/CEC-300-2007-003/CEC-300-2007-003-ED2-CMF.PDF.

The North American Electricity Reliability Corporation (NERC) defines a balancing authority area as "[t]he collection of generation, transmission, and loads within the metered boundaries of the Balancing Authority. The Balancing Authority maintains load resource balance within this area." The balancing authority is "[t]he responsible entity that integrates resource plans ahead of time, maintains load-interchangegeneration balance within a Balancing Authority Area, and supports Interconnection frequency in real time." NERC, Glossary of Terms Used in Reliability Standards, at 21 (February 12, 2008). This glossary may be found at http://www.nerc.com/files/Glossary_12Feb08.pdf.

compliance purposes.⁵⁵ This criterion focuses on the direct provision of renewable energy to California. That is, an RPS-eligible generator that is directly interconnected sends its electric generation into the California transmission system without the necessity of any intermediary energy transactions that in effect substitute energy that is not RPS-eligible for energy that is.⁵⁶

When the generator is not directly interconnected to the California grid, California customers receive only the more general benefits, such as reduction in the emission of greenhouse gases, that accrue because RPS-eligible generation has occurred within the WECC. These benefits are captured by the REC, the credit for renewable energy generation. In these circumstances, California customers should pay for the benefit they receive—the existence of more renewable energy in the WECC. California customers should not have to pay for the full value of the REC and the delivered energy, since they typically receive energy sent into the California grid that is not itself RPS-eligible.

Classifying as REC-only a procurement contract with a generation facility that is not directly interconnected clarifies the allocation of benefits and costs of that contract in a transparent, physical manner that is based on the real system for the generation and delivery of electricity. It allows such contracts to be used for RPS compliance in accordance with the requirements of this decision, but

⁵⁵ For convenience only, we will sometimes refer to such generation as "not directly interconnected." This phrasing is not intended to create any new category of generation or transmission, nor to substitute for the generally accepted terms of art in the industry. It is intended solely to reduce readers' fatigue.

⁵⁶ This situation is different from the necessary use of ancillary services within a balancing authority area to manage deliveries from intermittent resources, for example CAISO's Participating Intermittent Resources Program, discussed in D.06-10-019, at 37.

does not require California customers to pay for renewable energy they do not receive.

Therefore, we conclude that a REC-only transaction for purposes of RPS compliance is one that either:

- 1. Expressly transfers only RECs, not energy; or
- 2. Transfers RECs and energy from an RPS-eligible generation facility for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC interconnected transmission system is not physically located within California and is also not a facility for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC interconnected transmission system lies in the CAISO or another California balancing authority area.

This determination of classification applies to contracts for RPS procurement that are signed on or after the effective date of this decision. ⁵⁷ Contracts for RPS procurement that were signed prior to the effective date of this decision that meet the criteria for classification as REC-only contracts set forth in this decision will be considered REC-only contracts from the effective date of this decision going forward. Such contracts will then be subject to the limits and rules applying to REC-only contracts. However, deliveries from such contracts prior to the effective date of this decision will be considered bundled deliveries.

4.5. Market Structure and Rules

Drawing on the views of the parties and the ideas in the staff Guiding Principles, it is possible to set some basic goals for the TREC market. It must, at a

_

⁵⁷ This characteristic remains with the TREC for the duration of its existence. Suppose, for example, a TREC is transferred from an RPS-eligible generator that is not directly interconnected to the California transmission system to a California LSE, and then sold to a second California LSE, which retires that TREC for RPS compliance. Even though it was acquired from a California LSE, the TREC would still be subject to the limitation, because it is associated with energy from a generator that is not directly interconnected.

minimum, enable compliance with California RPS requirements. It should not make RPS compliance more difficult or expensive than it currently is. It should put in place processes that can be used to improve RPS compliance options over time. Beyond compliance, the TREC market should be transparent and able to encourage development of new RPS-eligible generation and maximize the effective use of existing RPS-eligible generation resources. The TREC market should function in a way that protects ratepayers without unnecessarily confining innovation in the market. Finally, the market must allow accountability with respect to RPS flexible compliance rules, reporting, and verification.

4.5.1. Staff Straw Proposal

At the TRECS workshop, Energy Division staff presented a Straw Proposal addressing many areas of concern. That proposal was revised and attached to the ALJ's post-workshop ruling for the parties' consideration. Most post-workshop commenters responded to some or all of the points in the Straw Proposal.⁵⁸ The Straw Proposal identifies five areas of concern:

- Market participants
- Limits on TREC usage
- Application of flexible compliance rules on banking and earmarking
- Treatment of existing and future bundled RPS contracts
- Utility cost recovery, including bid evaluation, contract review, and price reasonableness.

⁵⁸ For ease of reference, the Straw Proposal is attached as Appendix B. Appendix B does not contain the "rationale" sections provided with the straw proposal attached to the ALJ's ruling.

We turn our consideration to these areas, though not necessarily in the order set out in the Straw Proposal.

4.5.2. Participants

Parties unanimously agree that there should be no restrictions on participation in a TREC market, and that the TREC trading rules should be the same for all participants. This will provide the foundation for a market that is transparent and fair, with the simplest possible rules and the largest range of participants. RPS-obligated LSEs, RPS-eligible generators, California POUs, parties that aggregate small numbers of RECs into larger packages, financial institutions, and other third parties will all be able to contribute to the developing TREC market. Although this decision places no formal restrictions on who can participate in the California TREC market, we note that, as a practical matter, participants must meet the requirements for participation set by WREGIS, through which TREC trades will occur.

4.5.3. Limits on Use of TRECs

In response to direction in SB 107, in D.07-05-028 the Commission established, for a limited period of time, minimum quantities of RPS-eligible energy to be procured through contracts with new facilities⁵⁹ or long-term contracts⁶⁰ with existing facilities necessary in order for LSEs to count deliveries

⁵⁹ Those that entered commercial operation on or after January 1, 2005.

UCS points out that this fixed date for determining whether a facility is "new" becomes less relevant with each passing year. Nothing in this decision depends on this determination, so we do not address it. We do, however, note that it would be useful to have more flexibility in determining when a "new" facility has become an "existing" facility.

⁶⁰ Contracts with durations of 10 years or more.

from short-term RPS-eligible contracts with existing facilities for RPS compliance.⁶¹ This requirement will end when an LSE reaches its 20% RPS target.⁶²

The Straw Proposal would extend a modified version of these requirements to the use of short-term contracts for TRECs from existing facilities. The Straw Proposal would require that, in order to count short-term TREC contracts with existing facilities, an LSE must in the same year sign long-term contracts or contracts with new facilities whose aggregated annual expected deliveries total at least 0.25% of the prior year's retail sales.⁶³

Parties' responses to this proposal vary widely. Calpine, DRA, PG&E, SCE, TURN, and UCS urge that such an extension is justified for the same reasons it is useful for bundled energy contracts. Long-term contracts, they assert, are fundamentally necessary for new development of RPS-eligible generation. The Commission recognized this fact in D.06-10-019, and no party currently disputes it. It therefore makes sense, these parties urge, to apply similar requirements to encourage long-term contracting in the context of TREC

The commission may authorize a retail seller to enter into a contract of less than 10 years' duration with an eligible renewable energy resource, if the commission has established, for each retail seller, minimum quantities of eligible renewable energy resources to be procured either through contracts of at least 10 years' duration or from new facilities commencing commercial operations on or after January 1, 2005.

⁶¹ Section 399.14(b) provides that:

At the time D.07-05-028 was issued, this statutory requirement was found in § 399.14(b)(2). Prior § 399.14(b)(1) was repealed by SB 1036 (Perata), Stats. 2007, ch. 685 and the section was renumbered.

⁶² D.07-05-028, Ordering Paragraph 5.

 $^{^{63}}$ UCS proposes that this figure be 0.75%, rather than 0.25%.

contracts. UCS proposes an alternative restriction that short-term TREC transactions with existing facilities can make up no more than 50% of the MWh contracted for in any year by an RPS-obligated LSE. TURN supports this suggestion, arguing that it would reduce the harmful impact on long-term RPS contracting introduced by the use of TRECs.⁶⁴

In comments submitted in response to the supplemental comment ruling, several parties addressed the question of how to balance the use of TRECs against the perceived benefits offered by long-term bundled RPS contracts. Aglet asserts that the benefits of long-term fixed price bundled RPS contracts include (1) reduced exposure to natural gas price volatility and (2) reduced dependence on spot market energy purchases. If the use of TRECs were to increase and displace bundled contracts, Aglet argues, the effects of RPS contracts on electric price stability would be reduced. GPI also points out that only contracts for delivered energy, not TRECs, can contribute to price stability for ratepayers. UCS, while generally supportive of the use of TRECs, makes a similar point about price stability and argues in favor of more stringent limits on use of TRECs than those in the Straw Proposal. TURN agrees with these positions.

-

⁶⁴ Aglet makes a different type of proposal: that IOUs be allowed to engage in REC-only transactions with other IOUs, but only limited TREC transactions with other LSEs. Aglet does not address third-party market participants. No other party supports this proposal.

The parties sometimes use the term "price stability" and sometimes use the term "hedging" to refer to reducing the risk of uncertain cost impacts on ratepayers. In this decision, we will refer to price stability, consistent with the Legislature's finding that the RPS program "may promote stable electricity prices." (§ 399.11(b).)

TURN also asserts that price stability is the "primary" economic advantage of renewable energy. This advantage would be undermined, TURN argues, if an LSE were forced to purchase electricity to make up for TREC purchases, assuming such electricity purchases are not likely to have a fixed, long-term price. SDG&E contends that these views of the benefits of RPS contracts are too narrow, and that other methods of guarding against the risk of increased costs, such as hedging on a portfolio-wide basis, may be as, or more, effective.

Most parties, consistent with their views that a nascent TREC market should have few if any regulatory requirements, oppose extension of the minimum quantity requirement. AReM, CEERT, GPI, Horizon, IEP, MU, PacifiCorp and SDG&E all argue that such a requirement would reduce liquidity in the TREC market, tend to drive up TREC prices, and make it more difficult to move to a fully competitive TREC market. PacifiCorp asserts that limits on the use of TRECs will make it more difficult for LSEs to employ the least-cost alternatives in RPS procurement.

CEERT, PG&E, and SCE oppose UCS's suggestion of a more stringent minimum quantity requirement. AReM, PG&E, and SCE oppose UCS' suggestion of a percentage usage limit. PG&E would prefer a minimum quantity requirement like that set forth in D.07-05-028. SCE argues that the UCS position is based on a theoretical concern that the use of TRECs could lead to a reduction in an LSE's commitment to long-term contracts. SCE asserts that, in practice, essentially all parties acknowledge that the supply of TRECs will be limited in the near term; the primary source of short-term TRECs is likely to be facilities whose existing contracts with IOUs are expiring. Therefore, SCE argues, the kind of limits UCS proposes are simply unnecessary.

While the Legislature mandated that a minimum quantity requirement be established for the use of short-term bundled contracts with existing facilities, it did not impose a similar requirement for TREC contracts. We therefore take a fresh look at the desirability of limits on the use of TREC contracts.

Although the issue of limits on the use of TRECs was originally framed in the Straw Proposal as an extension of the minimum quantity contracting requirement to cover the use of short-term TRECs from existing facilities, it is actually broader than that. Two goals of the RPS program are implicated: providing incentives for development of more renewable generation, and providing price stability for ratepayers.

A mature TREC market will contribute to development of new RPS-eligible resources. At the outset, however, it is important that the developing TREC market not undermine long-term commitments to construction of new renewable generation.⁶⁶

Price stability for ratepayers is an important consideration both at the outset of the TREC market and on an ongoing basis. We expect that TRECs will prove to be a useful complement to other RPS procurement strategies over the longer term. We do not, however, want the early years of the TREC market to undermine price stability as the role of TRECs in overall RPS procurement is being sorted out.

A temporary limit on the use of TRECs for RPS compliance addresses both new renewable resource development and price stability goals, without limiting the future place of a TREC market in RPS procurement.

⁶⁶ UCS advances this argument most strongly; Calpine, DRA, PG&E, SCE, and TURN share the concern to varying degrees.

The issue of a limit on TRECs was framed in the Straw Proposal and in UCS' alternative proposals as a limit on contracting, like the minimum quantity requirement for bundled contracts. However, it is more appropriate to establish a limit on TRECs usage as a percentage of the LSE's APT.⁶⁷ The current RPS reporting process is based on APT, and LSEs are used to considering their RPS obligations in terms of APT. By contrast, the number of contracts signed in a year, and the amount of energy and/or RECs those contracts will procure, is variable and can not be estimated as accurately. It would therefore be more difficult for an LSE to have confidence that its TREC purchases would be within a limit based on annual contracting. It is more transparent, practical, and enforceable to impose a limit on the proportion of TRECs used to meet APT.

This limit will require that no more than 40% of the MWh used by PG&E, SCE, or SDG&E to meet APT in any year may be in the form of TRECs, beginning with the 2010 compliance year. This limitation, like the minimum quantity requirement for bundled contracts, is an annual limit. Each year, no more than 40% of APT may be met with TRECs. Also like the minimum quantity requirement for bundled contracts if one of the large IOUs acquires more than 40% of APT as TRECs in any year, it may carry over the excess in TRECs for compliance in future years (subject to any TRECs usage limitation applicable to the later year).

Although this limitation does not precisely correspond to any of the quantitative limits suggested by parties, it furthers the important goals we

-

⁶⁷ APT for any year prior to 2010 is determined by taking the prior year's APT and adding 1% of the prior year's retail sales (the incremental procurement target, or IPT). D.06-10-050, Attachment A. For 2010 and later years in which APT is 20% of retail sales, APT is calculated as 20% of the current year's retail sales. D.09-11-028.

identify of maintaining incentives for new generation and providing a measure of price stability. This limit is significantly higher than the 5% of APT limit in the March PD. Most parties opposed any limit, though Aglet, DRA, LSA, TURN, and UCS supported it. A number of parties, including Evolution Markets, GPI,68 Iberdrola/Horizon, IEP, and Solar Alliance, urged that, if a usage limitation were imposed, it should be higher. The 40% limit allows extensive use of REC-only procurement but maintains bundled contracts as the source of the majority of RPS procurement in any year.

It is not unreasonable that this limitation apply just to the three large utilities. They are responsible for the vast majority of RPS procurement in California; they provide contracts supporting new construction; and they have by far the largest number of customers. They also have the largest array of RPS procurement options and resources, enabling them to have greater flexibility incorporating the TREC limitation of 40% of APT into their procurement planning. Since the limitation is temporary and transitional, the large utilities can take account of it in their longer-term RPS procurement strategies without being unduly constrained in those strategies.

For the two small California utilities, Bear Valley Electric Service and Mountain Utilities, benefit for their customers in the early years of the TREC market is more likely to be promoted by exempting them from the 40% limitation than by imposing it. As the small utilities have explained in several sets of comments, because of their remote locations and peak loads occurring in

⁶⁸ GPI presented calculations suggesting that the limit of 5% of APT would not allow the use of TRECs to make any significant contribution to the attainment of the 20% goal by 2010 (or later, applying the flexible compliance rules) on a statewide basis.

DRAFT

winter and at night (the inverse of those of the large utilities), their ability to contract for reasonably priced RPS-eligible resources is currently quite limited.⁶⁹ Their ratepayers would be better served by allowing as much RPS procurement flexibility as possible, within the general requirements of the program and the existing flexible compliance rules.⁷⁰ Moreover, including the small utilities in the 40% limit would have no practical impact on the potential for new renewable generation development, since their total RPS procurement is so small. We therefore will not now apply the 40% of APT limitation to the two small utilities.

The TREC usage limitation is fundamentally a protection for California utility ratepayers. This limitation applies to the multi-jurisdictional utilities (MJUs), PacifiCorp and Sierra Pacific, only in particular, limited circumstances. This Commission does not generally approve their RPS procurement contracts. Further, the MJUs may proportionally allocate to California RPS compliance their system-wide RPS-eligible procurement. See § 399.17; D.08-05-029. Thus, the role of California- specific bundled RPS contracts in promoting price stability for MJU customers is much less significant, and much less within the sphere of our responsibility, than it is for California utilities. However, analogous to their bundled contracts, 71 if an MJU signs contracts for TRECs for use for California RPS compliance, such contracts would be subject to the limitation of 40% of APT.

⁶⁹ Of course, because Mountain Utilities is not now connected to the California grid, it simply cannot procure electricity from third parties.

⁷⁰ In their supplemental comments, Calpine, DRA, and UCS all recognize the difficult situations of the small utilities, and make varying suggestions for providing them with more flexibility in meeting RPS requirements. We do not adopt any particular suggestion, but acknowledge the concerns of these parties.

⁷¹ See D.08-05-029, at 34.

Finally, this Commission has different responsibilities with respect to utilities, on the one hand, and ESPs and CCAs on the other. This Commission does not set the rates of ESPs or CCAs and has no responsibility to ensure that their charges to their customers are just and reasonable. If an ESP or CCA chooses to take the price risk associated with using TRECs rather than fixed-price bundled contracts for RPS compliance, that is a business decision whose consequences are borne solely by the ESP or CCA and its customers. Therefore, the limitation on the use of TRECs to 40% of APT will not now apply to ESPs or CCAs.

This limit is enforceable through the existing RPS compliance reporting process. For each compliance year, LSEs would identify how many MWh applied to the LSE's APT were provided through REC-only transactions. Any MWh from TREC transactions that exceeded 40% of APT would be disallowed for RPS compliance in that year, but could be carried forward for compliance in succeeding years. Energy Division staff is authorized to make any adjustments to the RPS compliance spreadsheet that are necessary to implement this limitation.

This limit on the use of TRECs for RPS compliance should be a temporary one. Within 24 months of this decision, the Commission will review the usage limitation, and may modify, extend, or eliminate the limit. If there is a new legally binding RPS goal, the usage limitation may be reviewed in light of the new goal.

As the TREC market matures, it may also be desirable to move away from an approach that focuses on particularized limits, and toward a portfolio approach to the use of various types of RPS-eligible contracts in the RPS program. Parameters such as long-term and short-term, new facilities and

existing facilities, TRECs and bundled procurement could be used to develop a more holistic approach to RPS procurement. At this time, however, there is no experience with TRECs that could inform the development of such an approach. We focus now on getting the TREC market off to a good start.

4.6. Cost Recovery

The various topics encompassed in the general rubric of cost recovery apply only to the IOUs—large, small, and multi-jurisdictional. The Commission has authority over their rates, and has responsibility to maintain just and reasonable rates for their ratepayers, while ensuring safe and reliable service and implementing the RPS program goals. This Commission does not have authority over the rates of ESPs or CCAs. Thus, this aspect of REC market and compliance design will not be the same, or even similar, for all RPS-obligated LSEs. This is not a repudiation of the Commission's commitment to equitable treatment of all RPS-obligated LSEs, but simply a reflection of the regulatory reality of the California hybrid energy market.

4.6.1. Contract Approval

The large utilities all support the Straw Proposal that contracts for TRECs be reviewed in the same way as analogous contracts for RPS-eligible bundled energy. No party opposes this fundamental principle. UCS supports eventually aligning the review of TREC contracts with short-term bundled contracts. Horizon, PG&E, and Shell all support aligning TREC contract approval with short-term fossil generation contract approval.

The review processes for RPS bundled contracts and TREC contracts should be similar, so far as possible. This promotes the values of administrative simplicity, transparency, and fairness. The review process for TREC contracts starts, as does the process for bundled contracts, with the Commission's review

of the large utilities' RPS procurement plans (see § 399.14(a)) or the multijurisdictional utilities' supplements to their integrated resource plans. (See 399.17(d), D.08-05-029.) Going forward, the large utilities and the multijurisdictional utilities should include in their procurement plans or supplements the extent to which they intend to use TRECs to meet their RPS obligations.

After the Commission has evaluated the RPS procurement plans and determined that they are consistent with the requirements set out in the RPS statute and Commission decisions, utilities may conduct solicitations to procure RPS-eligible resources in accordance with their plans. (See § 399.14(b).) When utilities submit RPS procurement contracts for approval, the Commission evaluates them with respect to, among other things, consistency with their approved RPS procurement plans and the reasonableness of the contract relative to other bids received by the IOU in the same time frame. For the 2010 RPS procurement plans that have been submitted in R.08-08-009, all utilities that have submitted plans should amend those plans to include their planning for the use of TRECs to meet RPS procurement obligations in 2010.

Although some parties have proposed a new pre-approval process for short-term TREC contracts, we are not changing current contract approval procedures in this decision. The fast-track process for approval of short-term contracts set out in D.09-06-050 would not now be applicable to TREC contracts. Because the price benchmark necessary for fast-track treatment pursuant to D.09-06-050 is calculated on an entirely different basis from the price cap on TRECs set out in § 4.6.3, below, the fast-track process cannot now be used for

TREC contracts. 72 With this one exception, Energy Division staff may use all current methods of analyzing advice letters for bundled contracts and make any adaptations necessary for reviewing REC-only contracts.

For multi-jurisdictional utilities, the situation is somewhat more nuanced. This Commission does not generally approve their RPS procurement contracts for bundled energy. If, however, a multi-jurisdictional utility wishes to recover costs of a California-specific RPS contract, it must file an advice letter for approval of the costs of the contract. (See D.08-05-029, at 32.) TREC contracts should be treated similarly. If a multi-jurisdictional utility wishes to recover costs for any quantity of TRECS from a specific contract committed to its California RPS obligations, it must submit an advice letter demonstrating that the levelized price of the RECs does not exceed any price cap applicable to TREC transactions of IOUs, and conforms to any other requirements for TREC cost recovery by multi-jurisdictional utilities.

4.6.2. Bid Evaluation

The Straw Proposal suggests that utilities revise their processes for RPS procurement to include requests for offers for REC-only contracts, as well as to revise their least-cost best-fit (LCBF) methodology to allow evaluation of REC-only bids. IEP, PG&E, and TURN generally support this proposal, arguing that it would facilitate the integration of REC-only bids into the RPS procurement process. It would also allow direct comparison of bids for bundled energy and bids for REC-only transactions, giving utilities a better way to evaluate the REC-only option. This change in methodology would not require

Footnote continued on next page

⁷² The possible development of an analogous process for short-term TREC contracts

utilities to shortlist any REC-only contracts; rather, it would provide a more complete LCBF evaluation.

Consideration of improvements to the RPS bid evaluation LCBF methodology has been identified as one of the tasks in R.08-08-009.⁷³ REC-only contracts should be part of that consideration. Prior to full consideration of this issue in R.08-08-009, utilities should explain their method for evaluating REC-only contracts in their advice letters seeking approval of such contracts.

4.6.3. TREC Prices

How much is too much for ratepayers to pay for a REC for RPS compliance? Is it possible to control the costs of RECs to utility ratepayers without stunting or distorting the TREC market? These are among the most contentious issues on which parties commented.

The RPS statute allows a utility "to recover the reasonable costs of purchasing renewable energy credits in rates." (§ 399.16(b).) The Straw Proposal suggests that "reasonable costs" should be capped at \$35.00 per REC for the cost of RECs used for RPS compliance by RPS-obligated utilities. The cap would be an absolute limit on the price paid for a REC that an IOU uses for RPS compliance; it would not merely be a limit on the amount of the TREC price that could be included in rates.⁷⁴

will be taken up in R.08-08-009.

⁷³ See Scoping Memo and Ruling of Assigned Commissioner (September 26, 2008), at 4.

This aspect of the Straw Proposal seeks to remove the incentive for a utility to pay any price, however high, that it believes this Commission would allow it to recover in rates; or alternatively, to pay the Commission-allowed amount plus \$49.99 (one cent less than the current penalty amount of \$50/MWh) for a TREC, a scenario identified by SCE in its post-workshop comments. Even if shareholders paid the extra amount, the market price of TRECs could be driven beyond the reach of most RPS-obligated LSEs.

Some evidence from states with current TREC markets, presented at the TRECs workshop and discussed in comments, suggests that TREC prices will fall to close to zero (the marginal cost for renewable generation) when demand is low. When demand is high (for example, a compliance deadline looms) TREC prices will rise to the highest allowable cost.⁷⁵ TURN and UCS support the applicability of this "boom/bust" analysis to California. AReM, PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E assert that this "boom/bust" cycle is unlikely to occur in California, because RPS flexible compliance rules eliminate the prospect of a single fixed compliance deadline for all RPS-obligated LSEs. Calpine claims that, although banking of RECs and flexible compliance can help, a highly constrained supply of TRECs will have the same effect on prices as an inflexible deadline: prices will rise sharply.

All parties agree that, at least in the next three or four years, the demand for TRECs for California RPS compliance is likely to exceed the limited foreseeable supply. Many parties—whether in favor of TRECs or skeptical about them—also share the belief that, at least for the next few years, the TREC market will be largely a market for short-term RECs from existing facilities.⁷⁶

TURN asserts that a price cap is necessary in order to keep REC prices in line with the price of bundled RPS contracts. Ratepayers, TURN argues, should not have to pay more for the combination of a TREC and conventional energy than they would have paid for a long-term bundled contract for RPS-eligible

⁷⁵ Information on recent TREC prices in markets in other states, provided by Aglet in its supplemental comments, shows that prices vary from a low range (less than \$5/REC) through a few in the range of \$25/REC, to, in one instance, a high of \$48/REC.

⁷⁶ Aglet, Calpine, DRA, IEP, PG&E, TURN, and UCS all make this point.

energy. From this point of view, a TREC price cap should set be below the current \$50/MWh penalty price because the penalty price plus conventional energy price is currently higher than the long-term bundled RPS contract price. TURN therefore supports the \$35/REC price cap proposal.⁷⁷

Several parties urge that any price cap, if one is adopted at all, be set at the amount of the penalty for noncompliance with RPS procurement obligations. This is currently \$50.00/MWh. (See D.03-06-071.) If the price of a TREC bought by an IOU were allowed to exceed the penalty cost, this argument suggests, a utility would have an incentive to pay almost any price for a TREC (even above the penalty amount) in order to transfer the costs of noncompliance from the shareholders (via a penalty payment) to the ratepayers (via an inflated price for TRECs that would be reflected in rates).

Many parties oppose any cost cap, arguing that price limits almost by definition put artificial restraints on markets.⁷⁹ With a new market such as the California TREC market, the argument continues, such early restraints could delay the development of a robust TREC market and stifle the price signals needed to encourage new renewable development.

⁷⁷ BVES and Central California Power also support it. Aglet suggests a more complex calculation that would impose a significantly lower cap, but only on IOU cost recovery for TRECs purchased from unregulated LSEs. Aglet's suggestion is not consistent with an integrated, liquid TREC market, and does not account for the participation of other, non-LSE entities in the TREC market.

⁷⁸ GPI and UCS take this position. UCS also expresses a concern that the \$35 price cap in the Straw Proposal might be too low in current market conditions to provide incentives for new renewable construction, though the basis for that concern is not clear.

⁷⁹ Calpine, CEERT, Horizon, IEP, PG&E, and Solar Alliance take this position.

CEERT urges that, instead of a price cap, the Commission should adopt a price benchmark for TRECs. CEERT argues that a price cap will constrain the TREC market instead of letting market supply and demand determine prices. A reasonableness benchmark, however, would protect ratepayers from unreasonable TREC prices without depressing TREC prices. CEERT suggests that the price benchmark should be set at the penalty amount, rather than at a lower figure, such as the Straw Proposal's \$35/REC. CEERT asserts that this would avoid creating a situation in which an IOU could not buy TRECs to fulfill its RPS obligations if they were above the price cap, but below the penalty amount, yet would be subject to the penalty for a procurement shortfall. CEERT does not, however, suggest a methodology for implementing a benchmark to evaluate prices.

A price benchmark for evaluating TREC purchases may be a reasonable proposal for the medium and longer term. In the immediate future (i.e., the next three years), however, it could be difficult to develop a reliable benchmark. TREC prices could not reliably be approximated by, for example, estimating the cost of RPS-eligible energy and subtracting the cost of conventional power, which parties sometimes call the "green premium." Such an RPS energy cost would be extremely difficult to estimate in itself, since RPS power purchase agreements present a wide range of technologies and prices. More importantly, however, TREC prices will largely be the result of forces in the TREC market, not the energy market. Pressure to comply with the 20% goal combined with a limited supply of TRECs would dominate TREC market pricing, making it difficult to develop and implement a benchmark using sources other than the TREC market prices.

SDG&E, supported by PG&E, proposes neither a cap nor a benchmark, but a price reasonableness review similar to what is done for all-source procurement. The review would be based on broker quotes, results of solicitations, or a price valuation model. This proposal, however, assumes that there is a fully developed market in which there is a wide range of information. Since, in its early years, the TREC market is unlikely to conform to this model, SDG&E's suggestion, like CEERT's benchmarking suggestion, is premature.

Paradoxically, a published, firm price cap could operate as a relatively reliable price signal for investors in new RPS-eligible generation. At the workshop and in post-workshop comments, staff and parties discussed methods to ensure some measure of price transparency in the early stages of the TREC market. No party proposed any method that would produce public TREC prices. Suggestions were made that some kind of anonymous average of transaction prices could be compiled from data in WREGIS, though how to do this under WREGIS' current functionalities was not clear.

A price cap, by contrast, does not implicate the confidential data of any participant. Market participants may make deals at prices lower than the price cap, and RPS-obligated ESPs and CCAs, as well as POUs, could make deals at higher prices. But the price cap itself could give a reasonable indication of the value of TRECs to ratepayers. As compared to no public indication of price, this would provide important information that could ground new investment in RPS-eligible generation, not simply TREC trades.

Price volatility and high prices are not a necessary outcome of the predicted situation of short TREC supply, but they are a significant risk. We conclude that this is a risk that ratepayers should not be required to bear in the short term. We believe that it is possible to create temporary protections for

ratepayers through imposition of a price cap without damaging the basic structure of the TREC market or undermining the financial incentives for new renewable construction that are among the longer-term benefits of a TREC market. We therefore adopt a temporary, reviewable TREC price cap.

The Straw Proposal's suggestion of price cap of \$35/REC, while potentially reasonable, would not be effective at this time. First, as CEERT notes, a utility could have to leave a TREC priced at \$36 on the table, while paying \$50 in penalties for having failed to procure it. Second, as SCE points out, a price cap lower than the penalty amount creates an uneven playing field between utilities and other LSEs. LSEs not subject to the price cap could pay the highest price for a REC they thought they could afford, up to the penalty amount, thus potentially driving up the price out of reach of utilities.

On the other hand, a price cap of \$50/REC is connected to the noncompliance penalty amount. It is the highest economically rational price for a TREC that would not shift the costs of noncompliance from utility shareholders to ratepayers. The penalty structure is, however, intended to put the burden of IOUs' noncompliance with RPS requirements on shareholders, not ratepayers. It would be undermined by allowing utilities to pay more than the penalty amount for TRECs.

Therefore, we adopt a temporary price cap of \$50/REC (the penalty amount translated from MWh to RECs). This means that an IOU may not use for RPS compliance a TREC for which it paid more than \$50.00, on a levelized basis.⁸⁰

Footnote continued on next page

⁸⁰ This does not mean that purchasing TRECs for the amount of the price cap is per se reasonable. We will evaluate the reasonableness of TREC purchases by utilities in the

The temporary price cap, like other aspects of RPS procurement, works somewhat differently for MJUs. The price cap, like the TREC usage limit, applies only to those TRECs procured by MJUs exclusively for use in complying with their California RPS procurement obligations. It does not extend to system-wide purchases of TRECs that are proportionally allocated to California compliance, in accordance with § 399.17.

Both in order to use a REC-only transaction for RPS compliance and in order to obtain cost recovery for it, an IOU must demonstrate that the RECs are priced at or below \$50.00.81 In a REC-only contract in which an IOU buys only RECs, the price of the REC and its relation to the price cap will generally be clear. An IOU may also enter into a transaction for both the RECs and power from a generation facility that is not directly interconnected to the California grid. If the prices for the RECs and energy are separately identified in the contract, the REC price will also generally be clear. If they are not, the price for the RECs must be inferred in some manner in order for Energy Division to determine whether the contract complies with the price cap. In this situation, the IOU will have to provide an estimate of the REC price, by separately indentifying the energy price. The most transparent and consistent source of such an estimate is likely to be an estimate of the market value of the energy through the life of the contract. The net REC price could then be determined by subtraction. If an IOU signs another type of RPS-eligible transaction in which the REC price must be inferred

contract approval process. IOUs must provide sufficient information to the Commission to demonstrate that a TREC contract price is reasonable.

⁸¹ In prior comments, Evolution Markets suggested that more detail on the price calculation would be valuable.

but forward price curves are inappropriate or unavailable, the IOU would need to provide sufficient information for Energy Division to make a determination of whether the inferred REC price is at or below the REC cap. The Director of Energy Division is authorized to develop a methodology for making this determination and make any changes to the processing of advice letters that are necessary in order to implement the price cap on TRECs.

Like the limit on TRECs usage, this cap on the prices of TRECs used for RPS compliance should be a temporary one. Within 24 months of this decision, the Commission will review the price cap. The Commission could modify, extend, or eliminate this price cap. If there is a new legally binding RPS goal, the price cap may be reviewed in light of the new goal.

4.6.4. Cost Limitation Provisions

Section 399.15(d) provides for a limitation on the total above-market costs expended for RPS procurement by IOUs and makes available a limited amount of money to cover above-market costs. It states that "[n]o purchases of renewable energy credits may be eligible for consideration as an above-market cost." (§ 399.15(d)(2)(D).) Thus, TREC purchases are not eligible for any above-market funds set aside pursuant to § 399.15(d)(1). No IOU is required to purchase TRECs to meet RPS obligations if it has otherwise exceeded its cost limitation for bundled contracts (§ 399.16(a)(8)).⁸² However, IOUs should also have the ability to enter into voluntary TREC transactions even if the cost

This is analogous to the provision, with respect to bundled contracts, that no IOU is required to purchase bundled electricity at a price above the market price referent if its cost limitation has been exceeded. ((§ 399.15(d)(3).)

limitation has been reached, as they do with bundled contracts. (See § 399.15(d)(4).)

4.6.5. TREC Revenues for the Benefit of Ratepayers

Section 399.16(a)(4) provides that "[a]ll revenues received by an electrical corporation for the sale of a renewable energy credit shall be credited to the benefit of ratepayers." The respondent utilities should promptly take steps to include all TREC transactions in their energy resource recovery accounts (ERRA) or energy cost adjustment (ECAC) accounts, or equivalents, such as power purchase adjustment accounts, as appropriate. Those utilities that believe they do not currently have an appropriate accounting vehicle for TREC transactions should submit advice letters within 90 days of the date of this decision, proposing their accounting treatment of TREC transactions.

4.7. Transactions subject to §§ 399.16(a)(5) and (6)

The RPS statute provides that "no renewable energy credits shall be created" associated with electricity from two types of transactions.⁸³ The first is a

Footnote continued on next page

⁸³ The relevant parts of § 399.16 are:

⁽⁵⁾ No renewable energy credits shall be created for electricity generated pursuant to any electricity purchase contract with a retail seller or a local publicly owned electric utility executed before January 1, 2005, unless the contract contains explicit terms and conditions specifying the ownership or disposition of those credits. Deliveries under those contracts shall be tracked through the accounting system described in subdivision (b) of Section 399.13 and included in the baseline quantity of eligible renewable energy resources of the purchasing retail seller pursuant to Section 399.15.

⁽⁶⁾ No renewable energy credits shall be created for electricity generated under any electricity purchase contract executed after January 1, 2005, pursuant to the federal Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 (16 U.S.C. Sec. 2601 et seq.). Deliveries under the electricity purchase contracts shall be tracked through the accounting

contract executed with a California RPS-obligated LSE or POU prior to 2005 that does not specify the ownership or disposition of the RECs. The second is a contract pursuant to PURPA executed after January 1, 2005 with a QF.

Because WREGIS tracks renewable generation by issuing RECs (in the form of WREGIS Certificates), it is not possible literally to prevent the creation of RECs from these transactions. It is possible, however, to implement the Legislature's intent by ensuring that the bundled renewable energy from such transactions is tracked through WREGIS and counted toward the RPS obligations of only the purchasing retail seller. LSEs that purchase renewable energy from such transactions can prevent the WREGIS Certificates from being transferred out of their WREGIS accounts (and thus being available for transfer or trading) by setting up appropriate mechanisms within WREGIS to make direct or automatic transfers of the relevant WREGIS Certificates into their WREGIS accounts and retire them for RPS compliance at the earliest feasible time after the WREGIS Certificates are generated.⁸⁴ Currently, only the three large utilities have such contracts. They should take the steps necessary to ensure that the WREGIS Certificates generated by such transactions are moved as promptly as possible, as determined by the CEC, into the IOUs' retirement accounts in WREGIS for purposes of RPS compliance.

system described in subdivision (b) of Section 399.12 and count toward the renewables portfolio standard obligations of the purchasing retail seller.

⁸⁴ The rules for transfers between accounts in WREGIS are set out in section 15 of the WREGIS Operating Rules.

Energy Division staff should review with CEC staff and the affected utilities whether any changes to the RPS compliance spreadsheet, or other RPS reporting tools, are needed to ensure compliance with §§ 399.16(a)(5) and (6).

4.8. Compliance and Reporting

As a general principle, the use of TRECs will be consistent with the existing RPS flexible compliance rules. 85 There are a few situations, however, requiring more detailed examination and, in some cases, initial adjustments. As we develop experience with the use of TRECs for RPS compliance, we may review the impact of TRECs on the existing flexible compliance regime. The rules set out in this decision provide for the integration of TRECs into the existing RPS program; if experience reveals the need for improvements, we will consider them.

4.8.1. Banking

In the context of bundled energy contracts, RPS-eligible deliveries may be "banked" for an indefinite period for RPS compliance, as allowed by § 399.14(a)(2)(C)(i).86 That is, an LSE with deliveries in excess of its APT in one year may bank the surplus for use in any later compliance year.

To maintain consistency between the use of TRECs and the use of bundled energy contracts, RECs in excess of an LSE's APT in one year may be banked for

⁸⁵ See, e.g., D.06-05-037, D.06-10-050, D.07-02-011, D.08-02-008.

Section 399.14(a)(2)(C)(i) provides in relevant part that

The commission shall adopt. . . [f]lexible rules for compliance, including rules permitting retail sellers to apply excess procurement in one year to subsequent years or inadequate procurement in one year to no more than the following three years.

use in future years.⁸⁷ Because of the nature of RECs and how they are tracked and traded, however, banking of RECs for RPS compliance must be a two-step process: holding RECs in active sub-accounts in WREGIS, and banking within the RPS flexible compliance system. These two steps are the same for RECs associated with bundled contracts and RECs from REC-only contracts.

The first step is holding the REC in WREGIS. Under the WREGIS operating rules, RECs may be maintained indefinitely in a WREGIS participant's active sub-account.⁸⁸ When RECs are committed to California RPS compliance (or any other compliance purpose), they are transferred to the participant's WREGIS retirement sub-account. WREGIS still tracks the RECs in the retirement sub-account, but those RECs may not be traded or used for any other purpose.

Maintaining RECs within a WREGIS active sub-account keeps the RECs available for any purpose. The Straw Proposal would allow maintenance in active sub-accounts for up to three compliance years (inclusive of the year of generation) from the date the electricity associated with the REC is generated. That is, an RPS-obligated LSE that wanted to use a REC associated with electricity generated in June 2008 for RPS compliance would need to commit the REC to RPS compliance by putting it in its WREGIS retirement sub-account not later than December 31, 2010 (the end of the third compliance year since the generation). This is in the mid-range of the banking practices of other states, which typically allow between 18 months and five years for REC banking.⁸⁹

⁸⁷ The RECs may be procured through TREC contracts or bundled contracts.

⁸⁸ WREGIS Certificates do not have an expiration date. (Operating Rules, at 34.)

⁸⁹ The staff presentation on "Compliance Rules: Consensus and Unresolved Issues" provided this information at the TREC workshop.

TURN argues that this is too long a period to allow RECs to be held without commitment to RPS compliance, and urges that 18 months is a more appropriate time. UCS supports some limits on the time RECs can be maintained in WREGIS, in order to ensure that LSEs continue to procure RPS-eligible energy, rather than relying on generation from several years in the past. GPI and Pilot Power Group (PPG) argue that the period of holding RECs in WREGIS should be unlimited, essentially because the RPS banking process for bundled energy is unlimited.

The argument advanced by GPI and PPG conflates the two processes. It is possible to allow indefinite banking of RECs for RPS compliance once they have been committed to that purpose, without allowing indefinite retention of RECs in active WREGIS sub-accounts. TURN argues that allowing RECs to sit in active WREGIS sub-accounts for an indefinite period of time without being committed to any compliance purpose could encourage hoarding of TRECs and gaming of the TREC market by market participants who could buy TRECs and hold them until a major compliance deadline (such as attainment of the 20% target) looms, then sell them at inflated prices. On the other hand, in order to have a liquid TREC market, it is necessary to keep TRECs available for a long enough period of time that trading within that market will be efficient, while not providing incentives to keep TRECs out of the market.

In evaluating the banking proposals, it is important to remember that the primary purpose of authorizing the use of TRECs is to improve the RPS program. Allowing market participants to hold RECs indefinitely without committing them to RPS compliance would undermine both liquidity in the market and compliance planning by RPS-obligated LSEs.

The Straw Proposal strikes an appropriate balance between maintaining market liquidity and discouraging hoarding of TRECs. We therefore adopt the Straw Proposal on banking of RECs and clarify that it is applicable to all RECs, including those procured bundled with energy, tracked in WREGIS. The time to retirement for RPS compliance of not more three compliance years inclusive of the year of generation of the electricity associated with the REC will allow an LSE holding TRECs to make a good estimate of its future compliance needs, and either commit or sell its TRECs. Other TREC market participants will be able to assess their market situations over a reasonable period of time, but without incentives to hold TRECs for extremely long periods of time and potentially distort the TREC market.⁹⁰

Once RECs are retired for RPS compliance within WREGIS, they will be accounted for in the RPS compliance and reporting system. They then will be subject to the RPS flexible compliance rules.

4.8.2. Unbundling of RECs from Future Years of Bundled Contracts

Once a system of tradable RECs is established, any RECs recorded in WREGIS are subject to being traded, with the important exception (discussed in § 4.7 above) of RECs associated with the types of contracts described in §§ 399.16(a)(5) and (6). This raises the question of the appropriate treatment of RECs that are associated with the energy conveyed in bundled RPS contracts.

_

⁹⁰ This timing rule applies to the REC, not to the LSE or other market participant. A TREC may be traded several times within the three-year period; it may count for RPS compliance as long as it is retired in WREGIS within the period. The LSE retiring the REC for RPS compliance may have retained that REC in its active WREGIS sub-account for months, or acquired it only the day before it is retired.

An LSE with a contract for bundled energy should be able to "unbundle" and sell RECs from that contract on both a spot and a forward basis. In the case of a contract that is delivering energy, RECs from past deliveries would be tracked in WREGIS and could be sold if they were not yet retired for RPS compliance. RECs from later deliveries could be sold on a forward basis. In the case of a contract with a facility that is not yet on-line, RECs could be sold on a forward basis for some or all of the entire term of the contract (with the partial exception that RECs could not be unbundled from the first three years of bundled contracts that have been earmarked). Once the RECs are transferred, however, the LSE with the original bundled contract may not use *either* the REC or the underlying energy for RPS compliance; the RPS compliance value has been transferred to the purchaser along with the REC.

The potential unbundling and sale of RECs from bundled contracts that have been earmarked to make up shortfalls from prior years presents a special case.⁹³ The Straw Proposal suggests that RPS-obligated LSEs should not be allowed to unbundle the RECs from the first year of such contracts, since that year's deliveries have already been committed to make up a prior year's shortfall

^{91 -}

⁹¹ Energy Division staff should review the RPS compliance spreadsheet and reporting rules to determine whether additional reporting requirements should be imposed to track these transactions.

⁹² In principle, the original LSE could buy some or all of the RECs back at a later point. As the owner of the RECs, it could then retire them for RPS compliance.

⁹³ "Earmarking" is a flexible compliance mechanism by which deliveries from a future RPS procurement contract may be designated to make up, within three years, shortfalls in RPS procurement in the same year in which the earmarked contract was signed. As part of the earmarking process, Energy Division staff reviews the contract proposed for earmarking to ascertain whether the contract is likely to deliver as proposed, since it is covering an already-incurred shortfall.

under the flexible compliance rules. This raises the risk of double-counting the unbundled RECs, as earmarked by one LSE and retired for RPS compliance by another. On the other hand, if an earmarked contract turns out not to be needed to make up the shortfall for which it has been earmarked, the RECs should be able to be unbundled. We adopt an approach that would encourage liquidity in the TREC market without undermining the flexible compliance rules. An LSE may unbundle and trade RECs from the later years of a bundled contract that has been earmarked, but should be prohibited from unbundling any RECs generated in the first three years of deliveries under an earmarked contract.

4.8.3. Earmarking of TREC Contracts

In the Straw Proposal, staff suggests that earmarking of TREC contracts not be allowed because the viability of forward TREC contracts would be significantly more difficult to assess than the viability of bundled contracts. CEERT, GPI, IEP, PG&E, and UCS agree with this position. AReM, Pilot Power, SCE, and SDG&E argue against it. The opponents assert that all RPS contracts should be treated equally. They assert that administrative difficulty in making a viability determination should not prevent earmarking of TREC contracts. SCE asserts that purchases of TRECs from new facilities would be discouraged if earmarking of TRECs were not allowed.

Although in almost all respects TRECs can and should fit into the flexible compliance rules, it is appropriate to limit the circumstances in which earmarking of REC-only contracts is allowed. TREC deals present earmarking challenges different from bundled energy contracts. For TREC purchases that are associated with energy from multiple generators, possibly located in several different jurisdictions, staff would have difficulty undertaking an adequate review of potential future performance under the contracts. Confidential

information about the viability of a number of different generation projects may be difficult and very time-consuming to track down. This could at the least significantly delay approval of TREC deals proposed for earmarking, and might increase the risk that the shortfall for which the TRECs are earmarked would not in fact be made up within the required three-year period.

On the other hand, as PG&E pointed out in its earlier comments, TREC contracts between an LSE and one RPS-eligible generator providing the RECs share most of the characteristics of bundled transactions. It should not be significantly more difficult for staff to evaluate the likelihood of future performance of such contracts than it is to evaluate the future performance of bundled contracts that are eligible for earmarking.

We therefore allow earmarking of TREC contracts between an RPS-obligated LSE and one RPS-eligible generator providing the RECs, subject to review by staff in accordance with RPS flexible compliance procedures. A REC-only contract that is earmarked should count in the overall TREC usage cap for the year in which the TRECs are used for RPS compliance. Such earmarking is also subject to the restriction that no RECs in the first three years of deliveries from an earmarked TREC contract may be sold or traded. This is analogous to the restriction for RECs from bundled contracts set out in § 4.8.2, above.

4.8.4. Use of TRECs to make up prior shortfalls

The flexible compliance rules allow an LSE to carry forward a deficit in RPS procurement under certain circumstances. In brief, a deficit of up to .25% of the prior year's retail sales may be carried for up to three years without need for

Commission approval.⁹⁴ A larger deficit may be carried forward if the LSE demonstrates one of the allowable excuses for failure to meet annual procurement obligations.⁹⁵ A deficit of up to .25% of prior year's sales may be satisfied by applying procurement in any of the following three years that is in excess of APT for that year.⁹⁶

Because REC-only procurement and bundled procurement should be as similar as possible for RPS compliance purposes, REC-only transactions may be used to make up shortfalls to the same extent as bundled transactions, so long as the contribution of REC-only transactions does not exceed any limitation on the use of TRECs for that compliance year.

4.8.5. Reporting

The RPS reporting structure has been set forth in D.06-10-050.97 Energy Division staff has developed a collaborative process with parties in which any changes needed in the reporting formats are developed and reviewed.98 Staff should use this process to make revisions to current reporting formats that may be needed to accommodate the use of TRECs. The assigned Commissioner or assigned ALJ in R.08-08-009 or its successor may issue any rulings necessary to

⁹⁴ D.03-06-071; D.08-02-002.

⁹⁵ See D.03-06-071; D.03-12-065.

⁹⁶ D.05-07-039.

⁹⁷ A standardized RPS reporting format and a process for considering changes to the reporting format were adopted in R.06-05-027 by an ALJ's Ruling Adopting Standardized Reporting Format, Setting Schedule For Filing Updated Reports, and Addressing Subsequent Process (ALJ's Reporting Ruling) (March 12, 2007).

⁹⁸ Reporting formats include the semiannual compliance spreadsheets and any other documentation needed to report on RPS compliance.

provide staff and the parties with the opportunity to develop revisions to the reporting formats.

Following a suggestion made by CEERT, all RPS-obligated LSEs should be required to file with Energy Division reports on TREC purchases, sales, and prices, with appropriate confidentiality protections. Those utilities that utilize a procurement review group (PRG) should also provide this information to the PRG. This is not for purposes of contract approval, but for TREC market monitoring. This will enable staff to learn about developments in the TREC market, propose improvements, and identify potential problems that should be addressed by this Commission. Energy Division has discretion to develop, in consultation with the parties, the format and timing of such reports; they may be included as part of the RPS compliance spreadsheet.

4.9. Standard Terms and Conditions

Parties commenting on this issue favor minimal new STCs for TREC contracts, and little or no change to the STCs for bundled RPS contracts.⁹⁹ Parties unanimously believe that an STC defining RECs is the core, and perhaps only, STC needed. SDG&E adds that the STC must provide that the RECs are tracked in WREGIS; PG&E and AReM include a "CPUC approval" term.

We agree with the parties that few changes to STCs are required. It is clear that all TREC contracts will need an STC that ensures that the RECs being transferred conform to the definition and attributes of RECs set forth in D.08-08-028, or any later modifications made by decision of this Commission or new legislation. Because RECs cannot be recognized for RPS compliance unless

- 64 -

⁹⁹ AReM, CEERT, PG&E, SCE, SDG&E, and UCS made suggestions for STCs.

they are tracked in WREGIS, TREC contracts must contain assurances that the seller has taken all steps necessary to ensure that the generation is properly registered and the RECs will be tracked in WREGIS.

In addition, as PG&E points out, TREC contracts of both large and small IOUs must include the same requirement as bundled contracts that the contract takes effect upon approval by this Commission.¹⁰⁰

Defining and tracking RECs and requiring this Commission's approval of contracts where that approval is necessary cover the minimum requirements for STCs related to the use of TRECs for RPS compliance. Therefore, only three STCs will be required for REC-only contracts: REC definition, WREGIS tracking, and Commission approval for utility contracts (other than multi-jurisdictional utilities).¹⁰¹

Bundled contracts transfer RECs as well as energy. In order for bundled contracts to be consistent with REC-only contracts and to allow the unbundling and trading of RECs from bundled contracts as authorized by this decision, the "RECs definition" and "WREGIS tracking" STCs should be added to the STCs for bundled contracts.

The two new REC STCs address the fundamental issues of what is being conveyed by the contract. They should be non-modifiable in both REC-only and bundled contracts. The STC requiring Commission approval for REC-only

¹⁰⁰ This Commission does not approve RPS contracts of multi-jurisdictional utilities. See § 4.4.4.1, above.

¹⁰¹ If and when the Commission changes or augments the RPS procurement approval process, appropriate changes can be made in the STCs.

contracts should likewise by non-modifiable in REC-only contracts, as it is in bundled contracts. The new STCs are set out in Appendix C.

4.10. Timing Issues

Beginning on the effective date of this decision, TRECs tracked in WREGIS for which the RPS-eligible electricity associated with the TREC was generated on or after January 1, 2008 may be procured, traded, and used for RPS compliance. Any RECs associated with RPS-eligible bundled energy deliveries may be used for RPS compliance in accordance with existing flexible compliance rules and may, beginning on the effective date of this decision, be unbundled and sold in accordance with the rules set forth in this decision, subject to the restrictions in §§ 399.16(a)(5) and (6). No earlier than March 1, 2010, utilities may file advice letters for approval of TREC contracts that conform to the requirements of this decision. 102

4.11. Comparison to March 2009 PD

There are three significant differences between this revised proposed decision (RPD) and the March PD it revises, as well as a number of minor changes. Editorial changes for clarity and consistency have also been made. The major differences are:

1. In the March PD, the definition of a REC-only transaction was based on analyzing the details of individual contractual arrangements. In the RPD, the definition of a REC-only transaction has been clarified and based on physical facts of interconnection between RPS-eligible generators and the WECC transmission system. In the RPD, this definition has been moved closer to the beginning of the discussion,

¹⁰² D.08-05-029 requires BVES to submit an application for approval of bundled energy purchases as long as there is a cap on its electricity charges. This requirement does not apply to TREC purchases.

- to aid understanding of the following sections that set out various rules and requirements.
- 2. In the March PD, the temporary limit on the use of TRECs for RPS compliance by the three large IOUs was set at 5% of APT; TRECs in excess of that amount could not be banked for RPS compliance in future years. In the RPD, a limit of 40% of APT is imposed, again only on the three large IOUs. TRECs in excess of the limit may be banked for use in future years, though the 40% limit continues to apply in each year.
- 3. In the March PD, the process for reviewing the temporary limit on use of TRECs for RPS compliance and the temporary limit on the price an IOU may pay for a TREC was complex and uncertain. The RPD sets a time limit within which the Commission will review these limits.

4.12. Next Steps

Follow-up tasks to integrate TREC procurement into RPS procurement processes are most appropriately undertaken in R.08-08-009, where all aspects of the RPS procurement process are addressed. One possible task is refining the LCBF bid evaluation process to allow TREC contract bids to be evaluated side by side with bids for bundled contracts in utility RPS procurement processes. This could encourage integration of REC-only and bundled procurement decision-making. Revisions to the LCBF process could include consideration of how LCBF might better take into account various benefits of RPS-eligible generation identified by the RPS statute, such as diversity and reliability of the energy supply, public health and environmental benefits, as well as economic development benefits. (See § 399.11.) Developing processes for the Commission's approval of RPS contracts that can be applied to both bundled and REC-only procurement will aid in integration of TRECs into RPS procurement. Finally, consideration of a fast-track process for approval of short-term REC-only transactions, analogous to that set out in D.09-06-050 for short-term bundled

contracts, could be undertaken in R.08-08-009. The Assigned Commissioner may evaluate the utility of undertaking these tasks and revise the scoping memo for R.08-08-009 as appropriate.

The rules and procedures for procuring and trading TRECs and using them for RPS compliance that are set forth in this decision are summarized for informational purposes only in Appendix D. The TREC market and the use of TRECs for RPS compliance will, however, be affected by many other sources. These include D.08-08-028, the CEC's *Eligibility Guidebook*, and the WREGIS Operating Rules. Energy Division staff is authorized to compile a TRECs reference guide to aid RPS-obligated LSEs and other market participants in understanding how to participate in the TREC market. We also encourage Energy Division staff to consider AReM's suggestion to convene a workshop on integrating TRECs into RPS reporting and verification processes.

We intend to work with the CEC as it reviews a variety of RPS requirements in developing revisions to the CEC's *RPS Eligibility Guidebook*.

Because the landscape within which our RPS program functions is always changing, we also must consider the possibility that we could need to revisit some aspects of this decision in the future. Executive Order S-21-09 (September 15, 2009) directed the Air Resources Board to implement a renewable energy standard under AB 32 to lead to 33% renewable energy in California by 2020. The full implementation of AB 32 may lead to additional changes. Legislative changes to the RPS program may also occur. Review of how the TREC market is functioning may reveal unexpected challenges or opportunities not fully encompassed in this decision.

Because this decision resolves all remaining issues in this proceeding identified in the Second Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling of Assigned

Commissioner (February 25, 2008) ¹⁰³, R.06-02-012 is resolved for the purpose of compliance with § 1701.5. However, the proceeding remains open to address the Petition for Modification of Decision 06-10-019 filed on October 29, 2009.

5. Comments on Proposed Decision

The revised proposed decision of ALJ Simon in this matter was mailed to the parties in accordance with Section 311 of the Public Utilities Code and comments were allowed under Rule 14.3 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure.

6. Assignment of Proceeding

Michael R. Peevey is the assigned Commissioner and Anne E. Simon and Burton W. Mattson are the assigned ALJs for this proceeding.

Findings of Fact

- 1. Allowing the use of TRECs for RPS compliance will give RPS-obligated LSEs increased options for RPS compliance, and may reduce complexity in RPS procurement contracting.
- 2. The use of TRECs for RPS compliance will be substantially compatible with existing RPS flexible compliance rules.
- 3. As the California TREC market develops, it is likely to provide support for the development of new RPS-eligible generation.
- 4. In view of the benefits of the use of TRECs for RPS compliance and the development of a viable TREC market, it is reasonable to allow the use of TRECs for RPS compliance, subject to reasonable conditions.

¹⁰³ Three issues were transferred to R.08-08-009 in April 2009.

- 5. This Commission adopted the report on the tracking system required by § 399.16(a)(1) by Res. E-4178 (November 21, 2008).
- 6. The CEC adopted the report on the tracking system required by § 399.16(a)(1) at its business meeting on December 3, 2008.
- 7. Because the RPS-eligible energy is delivered directly to California's system, California customers receive the maximum benefit of RPS procurement transactions when the generator of the energy associated with a REC has its first point of interconnection with the WECC transmission system physically located within California or with a facility for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC lies in the CAISO or another California balancing authority area.
- 8. In the early years of a California TREC market, prior to LSEs' attaining the goal of 20% of retail sales from RPS-eligible generation resources, demand for TRECs is likely to exceed supply.
- 9. In order to maximize the benefits of reducing California's fossil fuel use and gain the attendant benefits of reduction in air pollution, improvement in public health, and reduction in energy price volatility, without damaging the basic structure of the TREC market, it is reasonable to impose on the three large IOUs a temporary reviewable limitation of 40% of APT annually on their use of TRECs.
- 10. In order to provide temporary protections for ratepayers from the potential for volatility and spikes in TREC prices without damaging the basic structure of the TREC market or undermining the financial incentives for new renewable construction that are among the longer-term benefits of a TREC market, it is reasonable to impose a temporary reviewable price cap of \$50/REC for TREC purchases by IOUs.

- 11. Solely for purposes of determining whether the contract price is reasonable and the price of TRECs is at or below the reviewable price cap, it is reasonable to develop a method to infer the price for a TREC based on a forecast of the market price for the associated energy if the contract does not specifically identify the REC price.
- 12. In order to promote liquidity in the TREC market, it is reasonable to impose a limit on the period of time that TRECs and RECs associated with energy in bundled contracts used for RPS compliance may be held in an active WREGIS sub-account before being retired for RPS compliance.
- 13. Allowing LSEs to unbundle and sell RECs from bundled contracts for RPS-eligible energy, on both a spot and forward basis, will promote liquidity in the TREC market and provide RPS compliance flexibility.
- 14. Because it is not always possible for the viability of REC-only contracts to be assessed in the same way as bundled contracts, it is reasonable to limit the earmarking of REC-only contracts to those contracts between an RPS-obligated LSE and one RPS-eligible generator providing the TRECs.
- 15. It is reasonable to allow REC-only transactions as well as bundled transactions to be used to make up shortfalls in RPS procurement in prior years in accordance with the flexible compliance rules and the limits on TREC usage set forth in this decision.
- 16. In order to preserve the Commission's ability to determine compliance with RPS obligations and to eliminate the potential for double-counting of some RECs, it is reasonable to prohibit the unbundling and trading of RECs from the first three years of deliveries of any RPS procurement contract, whether bundled or REC-only, that has been earmarked.

17. In view of the uncertainties involved in the early years of a new TREC market, it is reasonable to provide for regular assessments of market performance by Energy Division staff and, as needed, review by the Commission of the market rules set forth in this order.

Conclusions of Law

- 1. The use of TRECs for RPS compliance should be authorized.
- 2. All statutory preconditions to this authorization have been met.
- 3. Trading of RECs that meet the requirements of D.08-08-028 and any subsequent Commission decision or any applicable legislation characterizing RECs should begin not earlier than the effective date of this decision.
- 4. Only RECs tracked in WREGIS should be allowed to be used for RPS compliance.
- 5. LSEs should be allowed to unbundle and sell RECs from bundled contracts for RPS-eligible energy, on both a spot and forward basis, subject to conditions that promote RPS compliance and prevent double-counting.
- 6. Existing RPS flexible compliance rules should be applied to the use of TRECs for RPS compliance, with the following adjustments:
 - a. REC-only contracts between an LSE and one RPS-eligible generator supplying the TRECs may be earmarked;
 - b. RECs may not be unbundled or traded in the first three years of contracts (whether bundled or REC-only) that have been earmarked.
 - c. REC-only contracts that are used for earmarking will count against any TREC usage limitation in the year the TRECs are used for RPS compliance.
- 7. RECs associated with RPS-eligible generation under contracts with California RPS-obligated LSEs or POUs signed prior to 2005 that do not allocate ownership or disposition of RECs and contracts pursuant to PURPA with QFs

signed after January 1, 2005 may not be unbundled or used for RPS compliance separate from the associated energy.

- 8. A reasonable limit on the period of time that TRECs and RECs associated with energy delivered in bundled contracts used for RPS compliance may be held in an active WREGIS sub-account before being retired for RPS compliance should be imposed.
- 9. In order to allow flexibility in RPS procurement and compliance, IOUs should be able to enter into voluntary TREC transactions even if their cost limitation, as set out in § 399.15(d), has been reached.
- 10. In order to maximize the benefit California consumers receive from the procurement of RPS-eligible energy and of TRECs, all procurement from generators of RPS-eligible energy for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC interconnected transmission system is not physically located within California and is also not a facility for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC interconnected transmission system lies in the CAISO or another California balancing authority area, should be considered REC-only procurement for RPS compliance purposes.
- 11. Transactions of the form described in paragraph 10, above, that were approved by the Commission prior to the effective date of this decision should be counted as REC-only transactions as of the effective date of this decision. All deliveries from such transactions prior to the effective date of this decision should count as bundled transactions.
- 12. A temporary reviewable limit on the proportion of annual RPS procurement obligations that can be met by using TRECs should be imposed on the three large IOUs.

- 13. A reviewable cap on the price a utility may pay for a TREC should be imposed.
- 14. The temporary price cap for IOU purchases of TRECs should not be treated as a per se reasonable price for a TREC.
- 15. IOUs should include proceeds of the sale of TRECs in their ERRA or ECAC accounts, or equivalents (such as power purchase accounts) for the benefit of ratepayers. Any IOU not currently having an appropriate accounting method should file an advice letter within 90 days of the date of this decision proposing an accounting method.
- 16. In order to allow multi-jurisdictional utilities to recover the reasonable costs of REC-only contracts procured solely for California RPS compliance, such contracts should be submitted for Commission approval via advice letter.
- 17. In order to facilitate the integration of REC-only transactions into the RPS flexible compliance rules, the Director of Energy Division should be authorized, consistent with the ALJ's Reporting Ruling, to make revisions to the RPS compliance spreadsheet and other RPS reporting formats to implement the requirements and conditions set forth in this order. Such revisions should include but not be limited to reports on TREC purchases, sales, and prices.
- 18. In order to facilitate the integration of REC-only transactions into the RPS procurement process, the Director of Energy Division should be authorized to apply current procedures and methods of review of bundled contracts to REC-only contracts, with the exception that the fast-track procedure authorized by D.09-06-050 should not now be applied to REC-only contracts.
- 19. In order to facilitate the integration of REC-only transactions into the RPS procurement process, the Director of Energy Division should be authorized to determine the price of the TRECs in transactions for both RECs and energy in

which no separate price for RECs is indicated and where the TRECs are associated with energy from generators of RPS-eligible energy for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC interconnected transmission system is not physically located within California and is also not a facility for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC interconnected transmission system lies in the CAISO or another California balancing authority area.

20. In order to allow the use of TRECs for RPS compliance as soon as practicable, this order should be effective immediately.

ORDER

IT IS ORDERED that:

- 1. Renewable energy credits that are procured and traded separately from the associated energy generated by a facility that is eligible for the California renewables portfolio standard may be used for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard in accordance with the rules set forth in this decision.
- 2. Procurement and trading of renewable energy credits for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard in accordance with the rules set forth in this decision may commence on the effective date of this decision.
- 3. Only renewable energy credits tracked and retired in the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System shall be used for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard.
- 4. Any renewable energy credits tracked in the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System that conform to the requirements of Decision 08-08-028 and any subsequent Commission decision or any applicable California legislation characterizing renewable energy credits may be used for

compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard, subject to the restrictions in Ordering Paragraphs 8 and 9, below.

- 5. Any renewable energy credits tracked in the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System associated with electricity that is eligible for the California renewables portfolio standard that was generated on or after January 1, 2008 may be procured and traded separately from the associated energy, subject to the restrictions set forth in Ordering Paragraphs 8, 9, and 14 below.
- 6. As of the effective date of this decision, all procurement from generators of energy eligible under the California renewables portfolio standard that expressly transfers only renewable energy credits and not energy will be considered procurement of renewable energy credits only for purposes of compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard.
- 7. As of the effective date of this decision, all procurement from generators of energy eligible under the California renewables portfolio standard for which the first point of interconnection with the Western Electricity Coordinating Council interconnected transmission system is not physically located within California and is also not a facility for which the first point of interconnection with the Western Electricity Coordinating Council interconnected transmission system lies in the California Independent System Operator or another California balancing authority area will be considered procurement of renewable energy credits only for purposes of compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard. All deliveries from such transactions prior to the effective date of this decision will be counted as bundled transactions procuring both renewable energy credits and energy for purposes of compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard.

- 8. Renewable energy credits associated with electricity generation that is eligible for the California renewables portfolio standard delivered under procurement contracts signed prior to 2005 with load-serving entities obligated under the California renewables portfolio standard or with California publicly owned utilities that do not allocate ownership or disposition of the renewable energy credits shall be used for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard only if they are not transferred to an entity other than the original buyer in the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System prior to being retired for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard.
- 9. Renewable energy credits associated with electricity generation that is eligible for the California renewables portfolio standard delivered under procurement contracts for both energy and renewable energy credits pursuant to the federal Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 with qualifying facilities signed after January 1, 2005 shall be used for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard only if they are not transferred to an entity other the original buyer in the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System prior to being retired for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard.
- 10. In order to be used for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard, renewable energy credits may be retained in active sub-accounts in the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System for no more than three calendar years (inclusive of the year in which the electricity associated with the renewable energy credits was generated) after the electricity associated with the renewable energy credits was generated before being transferred to the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System retirement sub-

account of a load-serving entity obligated under the California renewables portfolio standard.

- 11. Once renewable energy credits are retired in the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System for use for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard, they may be banked for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard in future years in accordance with the flexible compliance rules for the California renewables portfolio standard.
- 12. Subject to the restrictions in Ordering Paragraphs 8, 9, and 14, the renewable energy credits from bundled contracts currently delivering energy eligible under the California renewables portfolio standard may be unbundled and traded separately from the associated energy in accordance with the rules set forth in this decision, so long as, once the renewable energy credits have been sold, the associated energy is not used for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard.
- 13. Subject to the restrictions in Ordering Paragraphs 8, 9, and 14, the renewable energy credits from bundled contracts scheduled to deliver energy eligible for the California renewables portfolio standard in the future may be unbundled and traded on a forward basis separately from the associated energy, so long as, once the renewable energy credits are generated, they are tracked in the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System and, once the renewable energy credits have been sold, the associated energy is not used for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard.
- 14. Renewable energy credits may not be unbundled and traded from the first three years of deliveries under any bundled procurement contract for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard that has been

earmarked to apply to a shortfall in meeting the annual procurement target of a load-serving entity obligated under the California renewables portfolio standard in the year the bundled contract was signed, subject to the restrictions in Ordering Paragraphs 8 and 9.

- 15. Contracts for delivery of renewable energy credits only between a load-serving entity and one generator of energy eligible under the California renewables portfolio standard that supplies all the renewable energy credits in the contract may be earmarked for purposes of compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard, but no other types of contracts for delivery of renewable energy credits only may be earmarked.
- 16. Renewable energy credits may not be sold or traded from the first three years of deliveries from a procurement contract for renewable energy credits only standard that has been earmarked to apply to a shortfall in meeting the annual procurement target of a load-serving entity obligated under the California renewables portfolio standard in the year the contract for the delivery of renewable energy credits was signed.
- 17. Pacific Gas and Electric Company, San Diego Gas and Electric Company, and Southern California Edison Company may each use renewable energy credits procured from contracts for renewable energy credits only to meet no more than 40 per cent of their annual procurement targets for the California renewables portfolio standard, beginning with the 2010 compliance year. Within 24 months of the effective date of this decision, the Commission will review this limit on the use of renewable energy credits procured from contracts for renewable energy credits only, and may modify, extend, or eliminate the limit.
- 18. No renewable energy credits for which the levelized amount paid is greater than \$50.00 per renewable energy credit may be used by any investor-

owned utility for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard. This limit applies only to those renewable energy credits procured by multi-jurisdictional utilities exclusively for use in complying with their California renewables portfolio standard procurement obligations. Within 24 months of the effective date of this decision, the Commission will review this price cap, and may modify, extend, or eliminate the price cap.

- 19. Investor owned utilities that have reached the procurement cost limitation for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard set forth in Public Utilities Code section 399.15(d) may enter into voluntary transactions for renewable energy credits.
- 20. Investor-owned utilities shall promptly set up an appropriate accounting method to apply proceeds of the sale of renewable energy credits for the benefit of ratepayers. Any investor-owned utility not currently having an appropriate accounting method shall file an advice letter within 90 days of the effective date of this decision proposing an accounting method.
- 21. Any contracts for renewable energy credits only that are procured solely for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard for which a multi-jurisdictional utility seeks recovery of costs must be submitted via advice letter.
- 22. The Director of Energy Division is authorized to review existing reporting formats and tools for the California renewables portfolio standard and undertake appropriate revisions to allow complete reporting and monitoring of the provisions in this order.
- 23. The Director of Energy Division is authorized to apply current procedures and methods of review of bundled contracts for procurement under the California renewables portfolio standard by investor-owned utilities to contracts

for renewable energy credits only, with the exception that the fast-track procedure authorized by Decision 09-06-050 may not now be applied to procurement of renewable energy credits only.

- 24. The Director of Energy Division is authorized to develop and apply a method for inferring the price of renewable energy credits in transactions for both renewable energy credits and energy in which no separate price for the renewable energy credits is indicated and where the renewable energy credits are associated with energy from generators of energy eligible under the California renewables portfolio standard for which the first point of interconnection with the Western Electricity Coordinating Council interconnected transmission system is not physically located within California and is also not a facility for which the first point of interconnection with the Western Electricity Coordinating Council interconnected transmission system lies in the California Independent System Operator or another California balancing authority area.
- 25. The Director of Energy Division may require the submission of appropriate documentation to verify compliance with any of the requirements set forth above, including but not limited to purchases, sales, and prices of renewable energy credits.
- 26. The following non-modifiable standard terms and conditions shall be included in all contracts for procurement for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard, whether bundled contracts or purchases of renewable energy credits only:

a. STC REC-1. Transfer of renewable energy credits

Seller and, if applicable, its successors, represents and warrants that throughout the Delivery Term of this Agreement the renewable energy credits transferred to Buyer conform to the definition and attributes required for compliance with the California Renewables Portfolio Standard, as set forth in California Public Utilities Commission Decision 08-08-028, and as may be modified by subsequent decision of the California Public Utilities Commission or by subsequent legislation. To the extent a change in law occurs after execution of this Agreement that causes this representation and warranty to be materially false or misleading, it shall not be an Event of Default if Seller has used commercially reasonable efforts to comply with such change in law.

b. STC REC-2. Tracking of RECs in WREGIS

Seller warrants that all necessary steps have been taken to allow the renewable energy credits transferred to Buyer to be tracked in the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System.

27. The following non-modifiable standard terms and conditions shall be included in all contracts for purchase of renewable energy credits only of regulated utilities other than multi-jurisdictional utilities:

STC REC-3. CPUC Approval

"CPUC Approval" means a final and non-appealable order of the CPUC, without conditions or modifications unacceptable to the Parties, or either of them, which contains the following terms:

- (a) approves this Agreement in its entirety, including payments to be made by the Buyer, subject to CPUC review of the Buyer's administration of the Agreement; and
- (b) finds that any procurement pursuant to this Agreement is procurement of renewable energy credits that conform to the definition and attributes required for compliance with the California Renewables Portfolio Standard, as set forth in California Public Utilities Commission Decision 08-08-028, and as may be modified by subsequent decision of the California Public Utilities Commission or by subsequent legislation, for purposes

of determining Buyer's compliance with any obligation that it may have to procure eligible renewable energy resources pursuant to the California Renewables Portfolio Standard (Public Utilities Code Section 399.11 *et seq.*), Decision 03-06-071, or other applicable law.

CPUC Approval will be deemed to have occurred on the date that a CPUC decision containing such findings becomes final and non-appealable.

- 28. The assigned Commissioner or assigned Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) in Rulemaking 08-08-009 or its successor is authorized to issue any rulings necessary to facilitate revision of the RPS reporting methods to accommodate the use of tradable RECs for RPS compliance.
- 29. All utilities that have submitted procurement plans for compliance with the California renewables portfolio standard for 2010 in Rulemaking 08-08-009 shall, if necessary, amend those plans to include their planning for the use of renewable energy credits to meet procurement obligations under the California renewables portfolio standard in 2010, on a schedule to be set by the assigned Commissioner or assigned ALJ.
- 30. Not earlier than March 1, 2010, utilities may file advice letters for approval of contracts for renewable energy credits only that conform to the requirements of this order.
- 31. The issues in the Second Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling of Assigned Commissioner (February 25, 2008) have either been transferred to Rulemaking (R.) 08-08-009 by the Assigned Commissioner's Ruling Transferring Consideration of Certain Issues from R.06-02-012 to R.08-08-009 (April 3, 2009) or resolved in this proceeding. This proceeding is therefore resolved for the purpose of compliance with Public Utilities Code section 1701.5. However, the

proceeding remains open to address the Petition for Modification of Decision 06-10-019, filed October 29, 2009.

This order is effective today.

Dated ______, at San Francisco, California.

APPENDIX A

Public Utilities Code Section 399.16

§ 399.16. Use of renewable energy credits to satisfy the requirements of the renewables portfolio standard

- (a) The commission, by rule, may authorize the use of renewable energy credits to satisfy the requirements of the renewables portfolio standard established pursuant to this article, subject to the following conditions:
- (1) Prior to authorizing any renewable energy credit to be used toward satisfying annual procurement targets, the commission and the Energy Commission shall conclude that the tracking system established pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 399.13, is operational, is capable of independently verifying the electricity generated by an eligible renewable energy resource and delivered to the retail seller, and can ensure that renewable energy credits shall not be double counted by any seller of electricity within the service territory of the Western Electricity Coordinating Council (WECC).
- **(2)** A renewable energy credit shall be counted only once for compliance with the renewables portfolio standard of this state or any other state, or for verifying retail product claims in this state or any other state.
- **(3)** The electricity is delivered to a retail seller, the Independent System Operator, or a local publicly owned electric utility.
- **(4)** All revenues received by an electrical corporation for the sale of a renewable energy credit shall be credited to the benefit of ratepayers.
- (5) No renewable energy credits shall be created for electricity generated pursuant to any electricity purchase contract with a retail seller or a local publicly owned electric utility executed before January 1, 2005, unless the contract contains explicit terms and conditions specifying the ownership or disposition of those credits. Deliveries under those contracts shall be tracked through the accounting system described in subdivision (b) of Section 399.13 and included in the baseline quantity of eligible renewable energy resources of the purchasing retail seller pursuant to Section 399.15.
- (6) No renewable energy credits shall be created for electricity generated under

any electricity purchase contract executed after January 1, 2005, pursuant to the federal Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 (16 U.S.C. Sec. 2601 et seq.). Deliveries under the electricity purchase contracts shall be tracked through the accounting system described in subdivision (b) of Section 399.12 and count toward the renewables portfolio standard obligations of the purchasing retail seller.

- (7) The commission may limit the quantity of renewable energy credits that may be procured unbundled from electricity generation by any retail seller, to meet the requirements of this article.
- (8) No electrical corporation shall be obligated to procure renewable energy credits to satisfy the requirements of this article in the event that the total costs expended above the applicable market prices for the procurement of eligible renewable energy resources exceeds the cost limitation established pursuant to subdivision (d) of Section 399.15.
- (9) Any additional condition that the commission determines is reasonable.
- **(b)** The commission shall allow an electrical corporation to recover the reasonable costs of purchasing renewable energy credits in rates.

(END OF APPENDIX A)

APPENDIX B STAFF STRAW PROPOSAL

COMPLIANCE QUESTIONS	STRAW PROPOSAL
Market Participants	
 Who can participate in the California compliance REC market? 	There are no limits on market participation.
• Should the REC trading rules differ for third parties (any non RPS-obligated entity)?	To the greatest extent possible, rules should be consistent for all participants.
TREC Usage Limits	
• Pursuant to Pub. Util. Code § 399.16(a)(7), the Commission may limit the quantity of tradable RECs (TRECs) procured for RPS compliance.	To address usage limits, a minimum quota mechanism, similar to the one set forth in D.07-05-028 for short term contracts, will be applied to TRECs.
• Should there be a limit on the quantity of tradable RECs that can be used by LSEs for RPS compliance? Should the limit be different for different classes of LSEs?	The minimum quota will allow, in any calendar year, LSEs to count short-term REC contracts for RPS compliance only if, in the same calendar year, the LSE signs long-term bundled contracts or bundled contracts with new facilities whose aggregated annual expected deliveries¹ total at least 0.25% of its prior year's retail sales.

¹ This is different from the minimum quota framework set forth in D.07-05-028, which requires that the *total* deliveries expected from the long-term contracts and contracts with new facilities are greater than 0.25% of prior year's retail sales before short-term contracts can be signed.

Flexible Compliance: Banking

- Should tradable RECs have an "expiration date"?
- Should RPS-obligated LSEs be able to "bank" tradable RECs without limitation as to quantity?
- Should RPS-obligated LSEs be able to "bank" tradable RECs without temporal limitations?

Note: Currently, there are no temporal or

quantity restrictions for banking bundled

RPS contracts. Flexible compliance is tracked for each LSE in its Reporting and

Compliance Spreadsheet submitted in biannual performance reports required by D.06-10-050.

Banking within WREGIS

In order for tradable RECs to be used for RPS compliance, they must be retired² in WREGIS within three compliance years (including compliance year in which it was generated).³

Banking after WREGIS

After RECs are retired in WREGIS, they can be banked indefinitely for RPS compliance purposes.

The flexible compliance for RECs and RPS bundled procurement will be tracked by the Compliance Spreadsheets submitted as part of the biannual Compliance Reports (D.06-10-050).

² "A Retirement Subaccount is used as a repository for WREGIS Certificates that the Account Holder wants to designate as Retired and remove from circulation (e.g., to demonstrate compliance with a state's RPS). Once a Certificate has been transferred into a WREGIS Retirement Subaccount, it cannot be transferred again to any other Account." (WREGIS Operating Rules, p. 6.)

³ The LSEs should create a banking Active sub-account within WREGIS to 'hold' RECs until they are retired for compliance purposes.

Flexible Compliance: Earmarking

• Should earmarking⁴ be allowed for TRECs?

No tradable RECs can be used for earmarking.

No forward REC contracts can be used for earmarking.

Treatment of Bundled⁵ Contracts

• What types of existing and future bundled RPS contracts can be unbundled for REC trading (excluding contracts pursuant to Pub. Util. Code § 399.16(a) for which no RECs will be created)?

Beginning on January 1, 2009, LSEs can unbundle and sell the RECs (that are tracked in WREGIS) from currently operational RPS projects. (Once the RECs are sold, they cannot be used for RPS compliance by the selling LSE. The null power also cannot be used for RPS compliance by any LSE.)

Beginning on January 1, 2009, LSEs can unbundle and sell RECs (that are tracked in WREGIS), on a forward basis, from Commission-approved RPS projects that are not yet online. (Once the RECs are sold, they cannot be used for RPS compliance by the selling LSE. The null power also cannot be used for RPS compliance.)

⁴ Earmarking is a flexible compliance tool that LSEs can conditionally use to defer deficits. See D.06-10-050, Attachment A, pages 9-10.

⁵ A bundled RPS contract is a power purchase agreement that conveys all energy, capacity and environmental attributes to a load-serving entity.

However, LSEs cannot unbundle the first year of a bundled contract if it has been set aside for RPS earmarking.

- LSEs can unbundle subsequent years of an earmarked bundled contract

Cost Recovery

- What is the review and approval process for IOU REC contracts? (Currently, all IOU bundled RPS contracts must be filed by advice letter. The contract review process for short-term bundled contracts is being separately developed in R.06-02-012.)
- What price evaluation mechanism should the Commission use to evaluate whether a REC contract price is reasonable?
- Should the Commission establish standard terms and conditions (modifiable and/or non-modifiable) to be contained in REC contracts?

Review process:

Long-term REC contracts (either from a solicitation or bilateral) must be filed with the Commission by advice letter. All short-term REC contracts should follow the same approval process that is established in R.06-02-012 for short-term bundled contracts.

Price evaluation criteria:

IOUs should solicit REC contracts in their annual renewable RFOs. As part of this process, the IOUs must modify their least cost, best fit (LCBF) evaluation methodologies to shortlist the most competitive REC contracts. The LCBF methodology should compare the benefits and costs of bundled contracts with REC transactions and evaluate them relative to the LSE's entire RPS portfolio.

A price cap will also be used to protect ratepayers from unreasonable costs. The price cap for any REC contract (short term, long term, bid into a solicitation, bilateral) is \$35/REC levelized using the IOU's approved discount rate.

Bilateral REC contracts are allowed also and are subject to the \$35/REC levelized price cap.

Standard terms and conditions:

Each REC contract must contain a Commission-approved term identifying the RECs and their attributes transferred to the buyer. This term is not modifiable.

(END OF APPENDIX B)

APPENDIX C

NEW AND REVISED STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

<u>STC REC-1</u> Transfer of renewable energy credits (Applies to all REC-only and bundled contracts)

Non-modifiable

Seller and, if applicable, its successors, represents and warrants that throughout the Delivery Term of this Agreement the renewable energy credits transferred to Buyer conform to the definition and attributes required for compliance with the California Renewables Portfolio Standard, as set forth in California Public Utilities Commission Decision 08-08-028, and as may be modified by subsequent decision of the California Public Utilities Commission or by subsequent legislation. To the extent a change in law occurs after execution of this Agreement that causes this representation and warranty to be materially false or misleading, it shall not be an Event of Default if Seller has used commercially reasonable efforts to comply with such change in law.

<u>STC REC-2</u> Tracking of RECs in WREGIS (Applies to all REC-only and bundled contracts) Non-modifiable

Seller warrants that all necessary steps have been taken to allow the renewable energy credits transferred to Buyer to be tracked in the Western Renewable Energy Generation Information System.

<u>STC REC-3</u> CPUC Approval (Applies to REC-only contracts of regulated utilities other than multi-jurisdictional utilities)

Non-Modifiable

"CPUC Approval" means a final and non-appealable order of the CPUC, without conditions or modifications unacceptable to the Parties, or either of them, which contains the following terms:

- (a) approves this Agreement in its entirety, including payments to be made by the Buyer, subject to CPUC review of the Buyer's administration of the Agreement; and
- (b) finds that any procurement pursuant to this Agreement is procurement of renewable energy credits that conform to the definition and attributes required for compliance with the California Renewables Portfolio Standard, as set forth in California Public Utilities Commission Decision 08-08-028, and as may be modified by subsequent decision of the California Public Utilities Commission or by subsequent legislation, for purposes of determining Buyer's compliance with any obligation that it may have to procure eligible renewable energy resources pursuant to the California Renewables Portfolio Standard (Public Utilities Code Section 399.11 *et seq.*), Decision 03-06-071, or other applicable law.

CPUC Approval will be deemed to have occurred on the date that a CPUC decision containing such findings becomes final and non-appealable.

(END OF APPENDIX C)

APPENDIX D

Summary of TREC Rules Announced in This Decision

This decision sets rules for the use of TRECs for RPS compliance and for the TREC market. The orders and guidance (while not limited by this summary) are summarized below. Other sources relevant to TRECs include D.08-08-028, the CEC's RPS Eligibility Guidebook, and the WREGIS Operating Rules.

What is a tradable renewable energy credit (TREC) transaction?

- 1) A transaction in which an entity procures only a REC (and not the underlying energy) from another entity, or
- 2) All procurement from generators of RPS-eligible energy for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC interconnected transmission system is not physically located within California and is also not a facility for which the first point of interconnection with the WECC interconnected transmission system lies in the CAISO or another California balancing authority area.

Effective date of REC trading

• RPS-obligated load-serving entities¹ may begin procuring and trading RECs on the effective date of this decision.

Eligibility of TRECs

- All TRECs must be associated with RPS-eligible energy generated on or after January 1, 2008.
- All TRECs must be tracked in WREGIS to be used for RPS compliance.
- The RECs from bundled contracts currently delivering RPS-eligible energy may be unbundled and traded separately from the associated energy, subject to the exceptions below.

¹ Load-serving entities (LSEs) include: investor-owned utilities (IOUs), energy service providers (ESPs), and community choice aggregators (CCAs).

• The RECs from bundled contracts scheduled to deliver RPS-eligible energy in the future may be unbundled and traded on a forward basis separately from the associated energy, subject to the exceptions below.

• Exceptions:

- 1. RECs associated with RPS-eligible energy delivered under procurement contracts signed prior to 2005 with California RPS-obligated LSEs or publicly owned utilities cannot be traded unless the contract explicitly assigns ownership or disposition of the RECs.
- 2. RECs associated with RPS-eligible energy delivered under procurement contracts pursuant to the Federal Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 with qualifying facilities signed after January 1, 2005 can not be traded.

Flexible compliance rules for TRECs

Banking

- In order to be used for RPS compliance, TRECs may be retained in active sub-accounts in WREGIS for no more than three calendar years (inclusive of the year in which the electricity associated with the RECs was generated) after the electricity associated with the RECs was generated.
- Once RECs are retired in WREGIS for RPS compliance, they may be banked for RPS compliance in future years in accordance with the RPS flexible compliance rules.

Earmarking

- TREC contracts between an LSE and one RPS-eligible generator may be earmarked for RPS compliance purposes, but no other types of TREC contracts may be earmarked.
- An LSE may not unbundle and trade RECs associated with energy generated in the first three years of an RPS contract (whether bundled or REC-only) that is being used for earmarking.

Filling compliance shortfalls

REC-only contracts may be used to make up shortfalls in APT, so long as the total use of TRECs for the year of the shortfall does not exceed the applicable limit on TRECs usage.

Temporary limit on use of TRECs for RPS compliance

• PG&E, SCE, and SDG&E may meet no more than 40% of their APT with TRECs. This limitation will be reviewed by the Commission within two years of this decision.

Contract review and approval of TREC transactions

- IOUs may submit TREC contracts for CPUC review and approval by advice letter starting March 1, 2010.
- Energy Division staff may use present methods of analyzing advice letters for bundled contracts, and make any adaptations necessary, for reviewing REC-only contracts, except that the fast-track process set out in D.09-06-050 does not apply to TRECs. These methods may be reviewed in R.08-08-009.
- TRECs for which an IOU pays more than \$50/TREC may not be used for RPS compliance. This price will be reviewed by the Commission within two years of this decision.
- The temporary \$50/TREC price cap does not make a TREC priced at or below \$50 reasonable. A utility will still have to provide sufficient information in its advice letter filing to demonstrate that the TREC contract is reasonable.
- All REC-only contracts must contain the following two non-modifiable standard terms and conditions: (1) Transfer of renewable energy credits and (2) Tracking of RECs in WREGIS.
- REC-only contracts of California IOUs other than MTUs must contain a third STC: Commission Approval.
- IOUs may enter into voluntary TREC transactions even if their cost limitation pursuant to § 399.15(d) has been reached.
- TREC purchases are not eligible for any above-market funds set aside pursuant to § 399.15(d)(1). No IOU is required to purchase TRECs to meet RPS obligations if it has otherwise exceeded its cost limitation for bundled contracts, but may do so voluntarily.

Delivery rules for TREC transactions

• The decision on whether a TREC contract satisfies RPS delivery rules remains with the CEC. For bundled contracts, the Energy Division may

request written confirmation from the CEC about whether the contract complies with RPS delivery rules.

(END OF APPENDIX D)

APPENDIX E SERVICE LIST IN R.06-02-012

******** PARTIES *********

3 PHASES RENEWABLES LLC 2100 SEPULVEDA BLVD, SUITE 37 MANHATTAN BEACH CA 90266

Michael Mazur 3 PHASES RENEWABLES, LLC 2100 SEPULVEDA BLVD, SUITE 37 MANHATTAN BEACH CA 90266 (310) 798-5275 mmazur@3PhasesRenewables.com

Gabe Petlin 3DEGREES PRESIDIO OF SAN FRANCISCO 6 FUNSTON AVENUE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94129 (415) 595-1679 gpetlin@3degreesinc.com

Dennis W. De Cuir Atty At Law A LAW CORPORATION 2999 DOUGLAS BLVD., SUITE 325 ROSEVILLE CA 95661 (916) 788-1022 dennis@ddecuir.com

For: Bear Valley Electric Service, Div. of Golden State Water Co.

James Weil Director AGLET CONSUMER ALLIANCE PO BOX 1916 SEBASTOPOL CA 95473 (707) 824-5656 jweil@aglet.org

For: Aglet Consumer Alliance

Evelyn Kahl
Attorney At Law
ALCANTAR & KAHL, LLP
33 NEW MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 1850
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94015
(415) 421-4143
ek@a-klaw.com
For: Energy Producers and Users Coalition

Michael Alcantar Attorney At Law ALCANTAR & KAHL, LLP 33 NEW MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 1850 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (503) 402-9900 mpa@a-klaw.com For: Cogeneration Association of California

Nora Sheriff Attorney At Law ALCANTAR & KAHL, LLP 33 NEW MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 1850 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94015 (415) 421-4143 nes@a-klaw.com For: Energy Producers and Users Coalition

Rod Aoki Attorney At Law ALCANTAR & KAHL, LLP 33 NEW MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 1850 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94015 (415) 421-4143 rsa@a-klaw.com For: Occidental Power Services, Inc.

AMERICAN UTILITY NETWORK 10705 DEER CANYON DRIVE ALTA LOMA CA 91737 pssed@adelphia.net

Paul Delaney AMERICAN UTILITY NETWORK (A.U.N.) 10705 DEER CANYON DRIVE ALTA LOMA CA 91737 (805) 390-5632 pssed@adelphia.net

Gloria Britton ANZA ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC. (909) 58470 HWY 371 PO BOX 391909 ANZA CA 92539 GloriaB@anzaelectric.org

AOL UTILITY CORP. 12752 BARRETT LANE SANTA ANA CA 92705

John R. Redding ARCTURUS ENERGY CONSULTING 44810 ROSEWOOD TERRACE MENDOCINO CA 95460 (707) 937-0878 johnrredding@earthlink.net

For: Silicon Valley Manufacturers Group

Sara Steck Myers
ATTORNEY AT LAW
122 28TH AVE.
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94121
(415) 387-1904
ssmyers@att.net
For: Center for Energy Efficiency and Renewable Technologies
(CEERT)

Holly Gordon Vp Legislative/Regulatory Affairs AUSRA, INC. 2585 E. BAYSHORE ROAD PALO ALTO CA 94303 (650) 353-9767 holly@ausra.com

For: Large-Scale Solar Association

Jan Mcfarland CAEATFA 915 CAPITOL MALL, RM. 468 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 651-8157 jmcfarland@treasurer.ca.gov For: Americans for Solar Power

Karen Mills
CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION
2300 RIVER PLAZA DRIVE
SACRAMENTO CA 95833
(916) 561-5655
kmills@cfbf.com
For: California Farm Bureau Federation

ror. Camorna rarm bureau rederation

Judith Sanders
CALIFORNIA ISO
151 BLUE RAVINE ROAD
FOLSOM CA 95630
(916) 351-4400
jsanders@caiso.com

Avis Kowalewski CALPINE CORPORATION 4160 DUBLIN BLVD, SUITE 100 DUBLIN CA 94568 (925) 557-2284 kowalewskia@calpine.com For: Calpine Corporation

Janice G. Hamrin CENTER FOR RESOURCE SOLUTIONS PRESIDIO BUILDING 97 PO BOX 29512 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94129 (415) 561-2100 For: CENTER FOR RESOURCE SOLUTIONS

Joseph Langenberg CENTRAL CALIFORNIA POWER 5125 NORTH MARTY AVENUE, NO.324 FRESNO CA 93711 (559) 917-5064 Joe.Langenberg@gmail.com For: Central California Power

Stephen A. S. Morrison
CITY & COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO
CITY HALL, SUITE 234
1 DR CARLTON B. GOODLET PLACE
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102-4682
(415) 554-4637
For: City & County of San Francisco

Neal De Snoo Energy Offfice CITY OF BERKELEY 2180 MILVIA AVENUE BERKELEY CA 94704 (510) 981-5434 ndesnoo@ci.berkeley.ca.us For: East Bay Power Authority/City of Berkeley

Kerry Eden
Asst. General Mgr.
CITY OF CORONA DEPT. OF WATER & POWER
730 CORPORATION YARD WAY
CORONA CA 92880
(951) 817-5740
kerry.eden@ci.corona.ca.us

R.06-02-012 ALJ/AES/tcg

DRAFT

Frederick M. Ortlieb
Office Of City Attorney
CITY OF SAN DIEGO
1200 THIRD AVENUE, SUITE 1200
SAN DIEGO CA 92101
(619) 236-6318
fortlieb@sandiego.gov
For: CITY OF SAN DIEGO

Susan Munves
Energy And Green Bldg. Prog. Admin.
CITY OF SANTA MONICA
1212 5TH STREET, FIRST FLOOR
SANTA MONICA CA 90401
(310) 458-8229
susan.munves@smgov.net

Janis C. Pepper CLEAN POWER MARKETS, INC. PO BOX 3206 LOS ALTOS CA 94024 (650) 949-5719 pepper@cleanpowermarkets.com For: CLEAN POWER MARKETS, INC.

Bill Barnes CLEANTECH AMERICA, INC. 50 CALIFORNIA STREET, SUITE 1500 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 277-5455 b.barnes@cleantechamerica.com For: Cleantech America, Inc.

L. Jan Reid COAST ECONOMIC CONSULTING 3185 GROSS ROAD SANTA CRUZ CA 95062 (831) 476-5700 janreid@coastecon.com For: Aglet Consumer Alliance

Cynthia A. Fonner
Senior Counsel
CONSTELLATION ENERGY GROUP INC
50 EAST WASHINGTON ST., STE. 300
CHICAGO IL 60661
(312) 704-8518
Cynthia.A.Fonner@constellation.com
For: Constellation Energy Group Inc

R. Thomas Beach
Principal Consultant
CROSSBORDER ENERGY
2560 NINTH STREET, SUITE 213A
BERKELEY CA 94710-2557
(510) 649-9790
tomb@crossborderenergy.com
For: California Wind Energy Assn/California Cogeneration
Council/Large-scale Solar Assn/Solar Alliance

Salle E. Yoo STEVEN GREENWALD Attorney At Law DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE 505 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 800 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111-6533 (415) 276-6564 salleyoo@dwt.com For: Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.

Jeffrey P. Gray
Attorney At Law
DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE, LLP
505 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 800
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111-6533
(415) 276-6500
jeffgray@dwt.com
For: CalpinePowerAmerica-CA, LLC/Firends of Kirkwood
Association

Larry F. Eisenstat
DICKSTEIN SHAPIRO LLP
1825 EYE STREET, NW
WASHINGTON DC 20006
(202) 420-2200
For: CPV Renewable Energy Company, LLC

Richard Lehfeldt
DICKSTEIN SHAPIRO LLP
1825 EYE STREET, NW
WASHINGTON DC 20006
(202) 420-2200
For: CPV Renewable Energy Company, LLC

Jennifer Chamberlin Mgr. Of Reg. And Gov. Affairs DIRECT ENERGY 2633 WELLINGTON CT CLYDE CA 94520 (925) 969-1031 jennifer.chamberlin@directenergy.com

R.06-02-012 ALJ/AES/tcg

DRAFT

Ronald M. Cerniglia, Director- National Advocacy DIRECT ENERGY SERVICES, LLC 40 COLUMBINE DRIVE **GLENMONT NY 12077-2966** (518) 439-2195 ron.cerniglia@directenergy.com

For: Direct Energy Services, LLC

Daniel W. Douglass, Attorney At Law DOUGLASS & LIDDELL 21700 OXNARD STREET, SUITE 1030 **WOODLAND HILLS CA 91367** (818) 961-3001 douglass@energyattorney.com For: Direct Access Customer Coalition, Alliance For Retail Energy Markets, Energy America, LLC, Commerce Energy, Inc.

Gregory S.G. Klatt DOUGLASS & LIDDELL 411 E. HUNTINGTON DRIVE, SUITE 107-356 ARCADIA CA 91006-8102 (818) 961-3002 klatt@energyattorney.com

For: Alliance for Retail Energy Markets/APS Energy

Services/Western Power Trading Forum

Jane E. Luckhardt, Attorney At Law DOWNEY BRAND LLP 621 CAPITOL MALL, 18TH FLOOR SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 520-5348 iluckhardt@downeybrand.com

For: Sacramento Municipal Utility District

Dan L. Carroll, Attorney At Law DOWNEY BRAND, LLP 621 CAPITOL MALL, 18TH FLOOR SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 444-1000 dcarroll@downevbrand.com

For: Mountain Utilities

Audra Hartmann DYNEGY INC. 4140 DUBLIN BLVD., STE. 100 **DUBLIN CA 94568** (916) 441-6242 Audra.Hartmann@Dynegy.com For: Dynegy, Inc.

Greggory L. Wheatland LYNN M. HAUG Attorney At Law ELLISON SCHNEIDER & HARRIS L.L.P. 2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, SUITE 400 SACRAMENTO CA 95816-5905 (916) 447-2166 glw@eslawfirm.com For: the City of Corona

Andrew B. Brown Attorney At Law ELLISON SCHNEIDER & HARRIS, LLP (1359) 2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, SUITE 400 SACRAMENTO CA 95816-5905 (916) 447-2166

abb@eslawfirm.com For: Constellation New Energy, Inc./Praxair Plainfield, Inc.

Lynn M. Haug Attorney At Law ELLISON, SCHNEIDER & HARRIS, L.L.P. 2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, SUITE 400 SACRAMENTO CA 95816-5905 (916) 447-2166 lmh@eslawfirm.com

For: Sierra Pacific Power Company

Douglas K. Kerner

Attorney At Law ELLISON, SCHNEIDER & HARRIS, LLP 2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, SUITE 400 SACRAMENTO CA 95816-5905 (916) 447-2166 dkk@eslawfirm.com

For: Independent Energy Producers Association

Carolyn Kehrein **Energy Management Services ENERGY USERS FORUM** 2602 CELEBRATION WAY **WOODLAND CA 95776** (530) 668-5600 cmkehrein@ems-ca.com For: Energy Users Forum

Garson Knapp FPL ENERGY, LLC 770 UNIVERSE BLVD. JUNO BEACH FL 33408 (561) 304-5720 garson_knapp@fpl.com

Standish O'Grady FRIENDS OF KIRKWOOD ASSOCIATION 31 PARKER AVENUE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94118 (415) 591-7701 sho@ogrady.us

Keith Switzer Vp Regulatory Affairs GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY 630 EAST FOOTHILL BLVD. SAN DIMAS CA 91773-9016 (909) 394-3600 X 780 kswitzer@gswater.com

Jeanne B. Armstrong
Attorney At Law
GOODIN MACBRIDE SQUERI DAY & LAMPREY LLP
505 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111
(415) 392-7900
jarmstrong@goodinmacbride.com
For: Solar Alliance

Michael B. Day Attorney At Law GOODIN MACBRIDE SQUERI DAY & LAMPREY LLP 505 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 392-7900 mday@goodinmacbride.com For: Solar Alliance

Brian T. Cragg
JOSEPH F. WIEDMAN
Attorney At Law
GOODIN, MACBRIDE, SQUERI, DAY & LAMPREY
505 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111
(415) 392-7900
bcragg@goodinmacbride.com
For: Independent Energy Producers Association (IEPA)

James D. Squeri Attorney At Law GOODIN, MACBRIDE, SQUERI, DAY & LAMPREY 505 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 392-7900 jsqueri@gmssr.com For: California Retailers Association/Powerex Corp.

Gregory Morris
Director
GREEN POWER INSTITUTE
2039 SHATTUCK AVE., SUITE 402
BERKELEY CA 94704
(510) 644-2700
gmorris@emf.net
For: Green Power Institute

Will Plaxico HELIOS ENERGY, LLC/AXIO POWER, INC. 31897 DEL OBISPO ST. SUITE 270 SAN JUAN CAPISTRANO CA 92675-3243 (888) 728-1117 X55 wplaxico@axiopower.com

Tam Hunt
HUNT CONSULTING
124 W. ALAMAR AVE., NO. 3
CORRAL DEL TIERRA CA 93908
(805) 705-1352
tam.hunt@gmail.com
For: COMMUNITY ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL

Donald N. Furman Senior Vice President IBERDROLA RENEWABLES INC 1125 NW COUCH STREET, SUITE 700 PORTLAND OR 97209 (503) 796-7723 For: Iberdrola Renewables Inc.

Kevin A. Lynch IBERDROLA RENEWABLES INC 1125 NW COUCH ST., SUITE 700 PORTLAND OR 97209 (503) 796-7108 kevin.lynch@iberdrolausa.com For: Iberdrola Renewables, Inc.

Steven Kelly, Policy Director INDEPENDENT ENERGY PRODUCERS 1215 K STREET, SUITE 900 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 448-9499 steven@iepa.com

For: IEP

Jody S. London
JODY LONDON CONSULTING
PO BOX 3629
OAKLAND CA 94609
(510) 459-0667
jody_london_consulting@earthlink.net
For: FOR Sustainable Conservation

William H. Booth, Attorney At Law LAW OFFICE OF WILLIAM H. BOOTH 67 CARR DRIVE MORAGA CA 94596 (925) 296-2460 wbooth@booth-law.com For: Ridgewood Renewable Power, LLC and Ridgewood Olinda, LLC

Jeremy D. Weinstein, Attorney At Law LAW OFFICES OF JEREMY D. WEINSTEIN 1512 BONANZA STREET WALNUT CREEK CA 94596 (925) 943-2708 jeremy.weinstein@pacificorp.com For: PacifiCorp

John W. Leslie, Attorney At Law LUCE, FORWARD, HAMILTON & SCRIPPS, LLP 11988 EL CAMINO REAL, SUITE 200 SAN DIEGO CA 92130-2592 (858) 720-6352 jleslie@luce.com For: Coral Power L.L.C./Shell Energy No. Aemrica.

Randall W. Keen Attorney At Law MANATT PHELPS & PHILLIPS, LLP 11355 WEST OLYMPIC BLVD. LOS ANGELES CA 90064 (310) 312-4361 rkeen@manatt.com For: MANATT PHELPS & PHILLIPS, LLP David L. Huard, Attorney At Law MANATT, PHELPS & PHILLIPS, LLP ONE EMBARCADERO CENTER, STE 2900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111-3736 (415) 291-7400 dhuard@manatt.com For: MANATT, PHELPS & PHILLIPS, LLP

David Morse EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000-0000 (530) 756-5033 demorse@omsoft.com For: Bear Valley Electric Service

John Dutcher, Vice President - Regulatory Affairs MOUNTAIN UTILITIES 3210 CORTE VALENCIA FAIRFIELD CA 94534-7875 (707) 426-4003 ralf1241a@cs.com

Nancy Murray NATURENER USA, LLC. 394 PACIFIC AVENUE, SUITE 300 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 217-5523 nmurray@naturener.net For: NATURENER USA, LLC.

John Dalessi
NAVIGANT CONSULTING, INC.
3100 ZINFANDEL DRIVE, SUITE 600
RANCHO CORDOVA CA 95670-6078
(916) 631-3200
jdalessi@navigantconsulting.com
For: South San Joaquin Valley Power Authority/Kings River
Conservation District

OCCIDENTAL POWER SERVICES, INC. 5 GREENWAY PLAZA, SUITE 110 HOUSTON TX 77046 ej wright@oxy.com

Cheryl Ponds
OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY
276 FOURTH AVENUE
CHULA VISTA CA 91910
(619) 691-5037
cponds@ci.chula-vista.ca.us
For: The City of Chula Vista

Noel Obiora Legal Division RM. 4107 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-5987 nao@cpuc.ca.gov For: DRA

Evelyn C. Lee
WILLIAM MANHEIM
PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
PO BOX 7442
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94120-7442
(415) 973-2786
ECL8@pge.com
For: PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

Charles Middlekauff Attorney At Law PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY PO BOX 7442 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94120 (415) 973-6971 crmd@pge.com For: Pacific Gas and Electric Company

William V. Manheim Attorney At Law PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE STREET, ROOM 3025-B30A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 973-6628 wvm3@pge.com For: Pacific Gas and Electric Company

Jordan White
Senior Attorney
PACIFICORP
825 NE MULTNOMAH STREET, SUITE 1800
PORTLAND OR 97232
(503) 813-5613
jordan.white@pacificorp.com
For: PacifiCorp

Carol A. Smoots
PERKINS COIE LLP
607 FOURTEENTH STREET, NW, SUITE 800
WASHINGTON DC 20005
(202) 628-6600
csmoots@perkinscoie.com

PILOT POWER GROUP, INC. 8910 UNIVERSITY CENTER LANE, STE 520 SAN DIEGO CA 92122 (858) 678-0118 tdarton@pilotpowergroup.com

Reid A. Winthrop, Corporate Counsel PILOT POWER GROUP, INC. 8910 UNIVERSITY CENTER LANE, SUITE 520 SAN DIEGO CA 92122 (858) 678-0118 rwinthrop@pilotpowergroup.com

Thomas Darton
PILOT POWER GROUP, INC.
8910 UNIVERSITY CENTER LANE, STE 520
SAN DIEGO CA 92122
(858) 627-9577
tdarton@pilotpowergroup.com
For: Pilot Power Group, Inc.

Thomas Elgie POWEREX CORPORATION 1400, 666 BURRAND ST VANCOUVER BC V6C 2X8 CANADA (604) 891-5000 Tom.Elgie@powerex.com For: Powerex Corporation

PRAXAIR PLAINFIELD, INC. 2711 CENTERVILLE ROAD, SUITE 400 WILMINGTON DE 19808 rick_noger@praxair.com

David Peck Division of Ratepayer Advocates 505 VAN NESS AVE, RM. 4103 San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1213 dbp@cpuc.ca.gov For: DRA

Derek Denniston, Director RENEWABLE ENERGY MARKETS 101 CALIFORNIA STREET, STE 2750 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111-5802 (415) 963-9134 derek@evomarkets.com For: EVOLUTION MARKETS, INC.

Daniel V. Gulino RIDGEWOOD POWER MANAGEMENT, LLC 947 LINWOOD AVENUE RIDGEWOOD NJ 07450 (201) 447-9000 dgulino@ridgewoodpower.com

For: RIDGEWOOD POWER MANAGEMENT, LLC

William W. Westerfield Iii Sr. Attorney SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 6201 S STREET, M.S. B406, PO BOX 15830 SACRAMENTO CA 95852-1830 (916) 732-7107 wwester@smud.org For: SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT

Kim F. Hassan Attorney At Law SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 101 ASH STREET, HQ-12 SAN DIEGO CA 92101 (619) 699-5006 khassan@sempra.com

For: San Diego Gas & Electric

Theresa L. Mueller
Chief Energy & Telecommunications Deputy
SAN FRANCISCO CITY ATTORNEY
CITY HALL, ROOM 234
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102-4682
(415) 554-4640
theresa.mueller@sfgov.org
For: City and County of San Francisco

Michael A. Hyams Power Enterprise-Regulatory Affairs SAN FRANCISCO PUBLIC UTILITIES COMM 1155 MARKET ST., 4TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103 (415) 554-1513 mhyams@sfwater.org

David Orth
General Manager
SAN JOAQUIN VALLEY POWER AUTHORITY
4886 EAST JENSEN AVENUE
FRESNO CA 93725
(559) 237-5567
dorth@krcd.org
For: Kings River Conservation District

Aimee M. Smith Attorney At Law SEMPRA ENERGY 101 ASH STREET, HQ12 SAN DIEGO CA 92101 (619) 699-5042 amsmith@sempra.com

For: San Diego Gas & Electric Company

SEMPRA ENERGY SOLUTIONS 101 ASH STREET, HQ09 SAN DIEGO CA 92101-3017 email@semprasolutions.com

Greg Bass SEMPRA ENERGY SOLUTIONS LLC 401 WEST A STREET, SUITE 500 SAN DIEGO CA 92101 GBass@SempraSolutions.com For: Sempra Energy Solutions LLC

SOCAL WATER/BEAR VALLEY ELECTRIC 630 EAST FOOTHILL BLVD. SAN DIMAS CA 91773 kswitzer@gswater.com

Rhone Resch SOLAR ENERGY INDUSTRIES ASSOCIATION 805 FIFTEENTH STREET, N.W., SUITE 510 WASHINGTON DC 20005 (202) 682-0556 rresch@seia.org

Cathy A. Karlstad
MICHAEL MONTOYA; J. TEMPLETON
SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY
2244 WALNUT GROVE AVE.
ROSEMEAD CA 91770
(626) 302-1096
cathy.karlstad@sce.com
For: Southern California Edison Company

Joni A. Templeton MICHAEL D. MONTOYA SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE, PO BOX 800 ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-6210 Joni.Templeton@sce.com For: Southern California Edison Company

R.06-02-012 ALJ/AES/tcg

DRAFT

William V. Walsh FRANK J. COOLEY, CATHY KARLSTAD Attorney At Law SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVE. ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-4531 william.v.walsh@sce.com

For: Southern California Edison Company

Dina M. Dubson STOEL RIVES, LLP 900 SW FIFTH AVENUE, SUITE 2600 PORTLAND OR 97204 (503) 294-9675 dmdubson@stoel.com For: Wasatch Wind, Inc.

Jp Ross, VP Strategoc Relationships SUNGEVITY 1625 SHATTUCK AVE., STE 210 BERKELEY CA 94709 (510) 845-5660 X124 jpross@sungevity.com For: THE VOTE SOLAR INITIATIVE

Keith Mccrea, Attorney At Law SUTHERLAND, ASBILL & BRENNAN 1275 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE, NW WASHINGTON DC 20004-2415 (202) 383-0705 keith.mccrea@sablaw.com For: CA Manufacturers & Technology Assn.

Donald R. Smith Division of Ratepayer Advocates 505 VAN NESS AVE, RM. 4209 San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1562 dsh@cpuc.ca.gov For: DRA

Marcel Hawiger, Energy Attorney THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK 115 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 929-8876 X311 marcel@turn.org For: The Utility Reform Network Laura Wisland
UNION OF CONCERNED SCIENTISTS
2397 SHATTUCK AVE., SUITE 203
BERKELEY CA 94704
(510) 809-1565
lwisland@ucsusa.org
For: Union of concerned Scientists

Tor. Other of concerned scientists

Ken Baker, Sr. Mgr. Sustainable Regulation WAL-MART STORES, INC.
2001 SE 10TH STREET
BENTONVILLE AR 72716-0550
(479) 204-0404
ken.baker@wal-mart.com
For: Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.

Joseph M. Karp, Attorney At Law WINSTON & STRAWN LLP 101 CALIFORNIA STREET, 39TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111-5894 (415) 591-1000 jkarp@winston.com For: California Wind Energy Association, Large-Scale Solar Association

****** STATE EMPLOYEE *******

Amy C. Baker Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1691 ab1@cpuc.ca.gov

Gary Collord Stationary Source Division CALIFORNIA AIR RESOURCES BOARD 1001 I STREET, PO BOX 2815 SACRAMENTO CA 95812 (916) 324-5548 gcollord@arb.ca.gov

Holly B. Cronin
State Water Project Operations Div
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES
3310 EL CAMINO AVE., LL-90
SACRAMENTO CA 95821
(916) 574-0708
hcronin@water.ca.gov

Clare Laufenberg Strategic Transmission Investmnt Program CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 NINTH STREET, MS 46 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 654-4859 claufenb@energy.state.ca.us

Heather Raitt CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 9TH STREET, MS 45 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 654-4735 hraitt@energy.state.ca.us For: CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION

Kate Zocchetti CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 9TH STREET, MS-45 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 kzocchet@energy.state.ca.us

Lorraine Gonzales CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 9TH STREET MS-45 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 654-5997 lgonzale@energy.state.ca.us For: CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION

Ross Miller CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 9TH STREET SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 654-4892 rmiller@energy.state.ca.us

Gina Barkalow CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION (CEC) 1516 NINTH STREET MS-45 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 654-4057 gbarkalo@energy.state.ca.us

James Mcmahon
CRA INTERNATIONAL
50 CHURCH ST.
CAMBRIDGE MA 02138
(603) 591-5898
jmcmahon@crai.com
For: California Department of Water Resources

Paul Douglas Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 355-5579 psd@cpuc.ca.gov

Dorothy Duda Administrative Law Judge Division RM. 5109 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2800 dot@cpuc.ca.gov

Gretchen T. Dumas Legal Division RM. 4300 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1210 gtd@cpuc.ca.gov

Julie A. Fitch Energy Division RM. 4004 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2059 jf2@cpuc.ca.gov

Anne Gillette Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-5219 aeg@cpuc.ca.gov

Louis M. Irwin Division of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4209 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1225 lmi@cpuc.ca.gov

Sara M. Kamins Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1388 smk@cpuc.ca.gov

Cheryl Lee Energy Division 505 VAN NESS AVE, AREA 4-A San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2167 cnl@cpuc.ca.gov

Meri Levy Division of Ratepayer Advocates 505 VAN NESS AVE, RM. 4102 San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 355-5556 mjh@cpuc.ca.gov

Mark R. Loy Division of Ratepayer Advocates 505 VAN NESS AVE, RM. 4205 San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2268 mrl@cpuc.ca.gov

Jaclyn Marks
Energy Division
AREA 4-A
505 VAN NESS AVE
San Francisco CA 94102 3298
(415) 703-2257
jm3@cpuc.ca.gov

Burton Mattson Administrative Law Judge Division RM. 5104 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2504 bwm@cpuc.ca.gov

Rahmon Momoh Division of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4102 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1725 rmm@cpuc.ca.gov

Candace Morey Legal Division RM. 5119 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-3211 cjm@cpuc.ca.gov For: DRA Kenneth Swain NAVIGANT CONSULTING, INC. 3100 ZINFANDEL DR., SUITE 600 RANCHO CORDOVA CA 95670 (916) 631-3200 kenneth.swain@navigantconsulting.com For: NAVIGANT CONSULTING, INC.

Karen P. Paull Legal Division RM. 4300 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2630 kpp@cpuc.ca.gov

Nika Rogers Division of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4101 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1529 nlr@cpuc.ca.gov

Aniana M. Schwankl Division of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4209 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1990 ams@cpuc.ca.gov

Andrew Schwartz Executive Division RM. 5217 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-1175 as2@cpuc.ca.gov

Curtis Seymour Energy Division 505 VAN NESS AVE, AREA 4-A San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-5404 css@cpuc.ca.gov

Anne E. Simon Administrative Law Judge Division 505 VAN NESS AVE, RM. 5107 San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2014 aes@cpuc.ca.gov

Sean A. Simon Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-3791 svn@cpuc.ca.gov

Elizabeth Stoltzfus Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-5586 eks@cpuc.ca.gov

Mary Jo Stueve Division of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4101 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 3298 (415) 703-2673 mjs@cpuc.ca.gov

Marc D. Joseph

****** INFORMATION ONLY ********

Attorney At Law
ADAMS, BROADWELL, JOSEPH & CARDOZO
601 GATEWAY BLVD., STE. 1000
SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO CA 94080
(650) 589-1660
mdjoseph@adamsbroadwell.com
For: Coalition of California Utility Employees/California Unions for Reliable Energy

Karen Terranova ALCANTAR & KAHL, LLP 33 NEW MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 1850 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 421-4143 filings@a-klaw.com For: Cogeneration Association of Califoria

Annie Stange ALCANTAR & KAHL 1300 SW FIFTH AVE., SUITE 1750 PORTLAND OR 97201 (503) 402-8703 sas@a-klaw.com Donald Brookhyser ALCANTAR & KAHL 1300 SW FIFTH AVE., SUITE 1750 PORTLAND OR 97210 (503) 402-8702 deb@a-klaw.com For: Cogeneration Association of California

Seema Srinivasan ALCANTAR & KAHL, LLP 33 NEW MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 1850 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 421-4143 sls@a-klaw.com

R. James Ansell ALTERNITY WIND POWER ONE CRAGWOOD ROAD SOUTH PLAINFIELD NJ 07080 (908) 791-4871 jansell@alternitywindpower.com

Todd J. Martin ALTERNITY WIND POWER, LLC ONE CRAGWOOD ROAD SOUTH PLAINFIELD NJ 07080 (908) 791-4825 tmartin@alternitywindpower.com

Philippe Auclair 11 RUSSELL COURT WALNUT CREEK CA 94598 (925) 588-9109 philha@astound.net

Carl Steen
BAKER & HOSTETLER LLP
600 ANTON BLVD., SUITE 900
COSTA MESA CA 92626
(714) 966-8803
csteen@bakerlaw.com
For: BAKER & HOSTETLER LLP

Roger Lee BAKER & HOSTETLER LLP 600 ANTON BLVD., SUITE 900 COSTA MESA CA 92626 (714) 966-8811 rblee@bakerlaw.com For: BAKER & HOSTETLER LLP

Darin Lowder BALLARD SPAHR ANDREWS & INGERSOLL, LLP 601 13TH STREET, NW, STE. 1000S WASHINGTON DC 20005 (202) 661-7631

Steven S. Schleimer Director, Compliance & Regulatory Affairs BARCLAYS BANK, PLC 200 PARK AVENUE, FIFTH FLOOR NEW YORK NY 10166 steven.schleimer@barclayscapital.com

Barbara R. Barkovich BARKOVICH & YAP, INC. 44810 ROSEWOOD TERRACE MENDOCINO CA 95460 (707) 937-6203 brbarkovich@earthlink.net

Reed V. Schmidt BARTLE WELLS ASSOCIATES 1889 ALCATRAZ AVENUE BERKELEY CA 94703-2714 (510) 653-3399 X111 rschmidt@bartlewells.com

Ryan Wiser BERKELEY LAB 1 CYCLOTRON ROAD, MS-90-4000 BERKELEY CA 94720 (510) 486-5474 rhwiser@lbl.gov For: BERKELEY LAB

Ryan Pletka Renewable Energy Project Manager BLACK & VEATCH 2999 OAK ROAD, SUITE 490 WALNUT CREEK CA 94597 (925) 949-5929 pletkari@bv.com

For: BLACK & VEATCH

Mark Chediak BLOOMBERG NEWS 3 PIER 101 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 mchediak@bloomberg.net Scott Blaising
Attorney At Law
BRAUN & BLAISING MCLAUGHLIN, P.C.
915 L STREET, SUITE 1270
SACRAMENTO CA 95814
(916) 682-9702
blaising@braunlegal.com

Bruce Mclaughlin Attorney At Law BRAUN & BLAISING, P.C. 915 L STREET SUITE 1270 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 326-5812 mclaughlin@braunlegal.com

Ryan Bernardo BRAUN BLAISING MCLAUGHLIN, P.C. 915 L STREET, SUITE 1270 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 912-4432 bernardo@braunlegal.com

Clare Breidenich 4202 ASHWORTH AVE. N SEATTLE WA 98103-7514 (206) 829-9193 cbreidenich@yahoo.com

Arthur L. Haubenstock BRIGHTSOURCE ENERGY, INC. 1999 HARRISON STREET, SUITE 2150 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 250-8150 ahaubenstock@brightsourceenergy.com

Mohan Niroula CALIF DEPT OF WATER RESOURCES RESOURCE ADEQUACY SECTION 3310 EL CAMINO AVENUE, STE 256 SACRAMENTO CA 95821 (916) 574-0712 mniroula@water.ca.gov

Tom Pomales CALIFORNIA AIR RESOURCES BOARD 1001 I STREET SACRAMENTO CA 95812 (916) 322-2052 tpomales@arb.ca.gov

Dan Adler Director, Tech And Policy Development CALIFORNIA CLEAN ENERGY FUND 5 THIRD STREET, SUITE 1125 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103 (415) 957-0167 Dan.adler@calcef.org

Beth Vaughan CALIFORNIA COGENERATION COUNCIL 4391 N. MARSH ELDER COURT CONCORD CA 94521 (925) 408-5142 beth@beth411.com

Hilary Corrigan CALIFORNIA ENERGY MARKETS 425 DIVISADERO ST. SUITE 303 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94117-2242 (415) 963-4439 cem@newsdata.com For: CALIFORNIA ENERGY MARKETS

Legal And Regulatory Department CALIFORNIA ISO 151 BLUE RAVINE ROAD FOLSOM CA 95630 e-recipient@caiso.com For: CALIFORNIA ISO

Baldassaro Dicapo CALIFORNIA ISO LEGAL AND REGULATORY DEPARTMENT 151 BLUE RAVINE ROAD FOLSOM CA 95630 bdicapo@caiso.com For: California Independent System Operators

Grant A. Rosenblum Staff Counsel CALIFORNIA ISO 151 BLUE RAVINE ROAD FOLSOM CA 95630 (916) 608-7138 grosenblum@caiso.com For: CALIFORNIA ISO Karen Lindh CALIFORNIA ONSITE GENERATION 7909 WALERGA ROAD, NO. 112, PMB 119 ANTELOPE CA 95843 (916) 729-1562 karen@klindh.com

Sarah Beserra CALIFORNIA REPORTS.COM 39 CASTLE HILL COURT VALLEJO CA 94591 (707) 645-7361 sbeserra@sbcglobal.net

Nancy Rader
Executive Director
CALIFORNIA WIND ENERGY ASSOCIATION
2560 NINTH STREET, SUITE 213A
BERKELEY CA 94710
(510) 845-5077
nrader@calwea.org

Danielle Matthews Seperas CALPINE CORPORATION 1215 K STREET, SUITE 2210 SACRAMENTO CA 95814-3978 (916) 491-3377 dseperas@calpine.com

Venkat Suravarapu Associates Director CAMBRIDGE ENERGY RESEARCH ASSOCIATES 1150 CONNECTICUT AVE., NW STE 400 WASHINGTON DC 20036-4133 (202) 857-5177 vsuravarapu@cera.com For: CAMBRIDGE ENERGY RESEARCH ASSOCIATES

Claire E. Torchia CHADBOURNE & PARKE LLP 350 SOUTH GRAND AVE., STE 3300 LOS ANGELES CA 90071 (213) 892-2105 ctorchia@chadbourne.com

Bill Golove CHEVRON ENERGY SOLUTIONS 345 CALIFORNIA STREET, 18TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 whgolove@chevron.com Peter Blood COLUMBIA ENERGY PARTNERS, LLC 317 COLUMBIA STREET VANCOUVER WA 98660 (503) 720-4064 pblood@columbiaenergypartners.com

Melanie Falls COMPETITIVE POWER VENTURES, INC. 55 SECOND STREET, SUITE 525 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 293-1460

Sean J. Finnerty Sr. Vice President COMPETITIVE POWER VENTURES, INC. 50 BRAINTREE HILL OFFICE PARK, STE. 300 BRAINTREE MA 02184 sfinnerty@cpv.com

Cynthia Fonner Brady Senior Counsel CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY, INC. 500 WEST WASHINGTON BLVD., STE 300 CHICGO IL 60661 (312) 704-8518 For: Constellation NewEnergy, Inc.

Clyde Murley
CONSULTANT TO NRDC
1031 ORDWAY STREET
ALBANY CA 94706
(510) 528-8953
clyde.murley@comcast.net
For: The Union of Concerned Scientists

COOL EARTH SOLAR EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000-0000 (925) 454-8506 mpr-ca@coolearthsolar.com For: Cool Earth Solar

Tony Chen Sr. Manger, Business Devel. COOL EARTH SOLAR 4659 LAS POSITAS RD., STE. 94551 LIVERMORE CA 94551 (925) 454-8506 For: COOL EARTH SOLAR Graig Cooper 55 2ND STREET, SUITE 525 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 293-1467 gcooper@cpv.com

Docket Coordinator 5727 KEITH ST. OAKLAND CA 94618 (510) 597-1798 cpucdockets@keyesandfox.com

Josh Davidson Attorney At Law DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP 505 MONTGOMERY ST, STE 800 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111-6533 (415) 276-6500 joshdavidson@dwt.com

Josh Davidson DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP 505 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 800 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 276-6500 joshdavidson@dwt.com For: Davis Wright Tremaine LLP

Judy Pau DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP 505 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 800 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111-6533 (415) 276-6587 judypau@dwt.com

Robert B. Gex Attorney At Law, DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP 505 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 800 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111-6533 (415) 276-6500 bobgex@dwt.com

Steven Greenwald DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP 505 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 800 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 276-6500 stevegreenwald@dwt.com

Balwant S. Purewal DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES 3310 EL CAMINO AVE., LL-90 SACRAMENTO CA 95821 (916) 574-0668 bpurewal@water.ca.gov

For: DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES

Douglas M. Grandy, P.E. DG TECHNOLOGIES 1220 MACAULAY CIRCLE CARMICHAEL CA 95608 (916) 871-2432 dgrandy@caonsitegen.com For: California Onsite Generation

Chad Dickason PO BOX 4646 INCLINE VILLAGE NV 89450 chad_dickason@soleonenergy.com

Mark L. Perlis DICKSTEIN SHAPIRO LLP 1825 EYE STREET, NW WASHINGTON DC 20006 (202) 420-4703 perlism@dicksteinshapiro.com

William F. Dietrich Attorney At Law DIETRICH LAW 2977 YGNACIO VALLEY ROAD, NO. 613 WALNUT CREEK CA 94598-3535 (415) 297-2356 dietrichlaw2@earthlink.net

Jennifer Chamberlin DIRECT ENERGY 2633 WELLINGTON CT CLYDE CA 94520 (925) 969-1031 jennifer.chamberlin@directenergy.com

Donald C. Liddell DOUGLASS & LIDDELL 2928 2ND AVENUE SAN DIEGO CA 92103 (619) 993-9096 liddell@energyattorney.com Cassandra Sweet DOW JONES NEWSWIRES 201 CALIFORNIA ST., 13TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 439-6468 cassandra.sweet@dowjones.com

Michael Mann DTE BIOMASS ENERGY 425 S. MAIN STREET ANN ARBOR MI 48104 (734) 913-2977 mannm@dteenergy.com

Joseph Paul Senior Corporate Counsel DYNEGY-WEST GENERATION 1000LOUISIANA STREET, STE. 5800 HOUSTON TX 77002 (713) 767-0064 joe.paul@dynegy.com For: Dynegy

Ramona Gonzalez
EAST BAY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT
375 ELEVENTH STREET, M/S NO. 205
OAKLAND CA 94607
(510) 287-1619
ramonag@ebmud.com

Mark E. Irwin EDISON MISSION ENERGY 18101 VON KARMAN AVE. STE 1700 IRVINE CA 92612 (949) 798-7980 mirwin@edisonmission.com For: EDISON MISSION ENERGY

Stephen Hess, Director, Market Policy & Reg. Affairs EDISON MISSION MARKETING & TRADING INC. 18101 VON KARMAN AVE, STE. 1700 IRVINE CA 92612-1046 (949) 798-7833 shess@edisonmission.com

Roy D. Mccoy, Manager, Regulatory Support & Reporting ELECTRIC RELIABILITY COUNCIL OF TEXAS 2705 W. LAKE DRIVE TAYLOR TX 76574 (512) 248-3131 rmccoy@ercot.com

Jeffrey Harris Attorney At Law ELLISON & SCHNEIDER 2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, SUITE 400 SACRAMENTO CA 95816-5905 (916) 447-2166 jdh@eslawfirm.com

For: Dynegy

Jedediah J. Gibson Attorney At Law ELLISON SCHNEIDER & HARRIS LLP 2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, SUITE 400 SACRAMENTO CA 95816-5905 (916) 447-2166 jjg@eslawfirm.com For: Sierra Pacific Power Company

Tor. Sierra r actric r ower Company

Brian S. Biering ELLISON SCHNEIDER & HARRIS, LLP 2600 CAPITOL AVENUE, SUITE 400 SACRAMENTO CA 95816-5905 (916) 447-2166 bsb@eslawfirm.com

Snuller Price
ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS
101 MONTGOMERY, SUITE 1600
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104
(415) 391-5100
snuller@ethree.com
For: ENERGY AND ENBIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS

Kevin J. Simonsen ENERGY MANAGEMENT SERVICES 646 EAST THIRD AVENUE DURANGO CO 81301 (970) 259-1748 kjsimonsen@ems-ca.com

Jennifer Holmes ENERGY MARKET INNOVATIONS INC. 83 COLUMBIA STREET, SUITE 303 SEATTLE WA 98104 (206) 621-1160 jholmes@emi1.com Dan Perkins ENERGYSMARTHOMES.NET EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000-0000 (760) 639-0945 dan@energysmarthomes.net

Douglas E. Cover ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE ASSOCIATES 225 BUSH STREET, SUITE 1700 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 896-5900 dcover@esassoc.com

Bill Mason Senior Asset Administrator ENXCO, INC. PO BOX 581043 N. PALM SPRINGS CA 92258 (760) 329-1437 X-108 billm@enxco.com

Kevin Porter
Senior Analyst
EXETER ASSOCIATES, INC.
5565 STERRETT PLACE, SUITE 310
COLUMBIA MD 21044
(410) 992-7500
porter@exeterassociates.com

Rafi Hassan Senior Research Associate FBR CAPITAL MARKETS 1950 EMBARACADERO FOUR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 248-2932 rhassan@fbr.com

Saeed Farrokhpay FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION 110 BLUE RAVINE RD., SUITE 107 FOLSOM CA 95630 (916) 294-0322 saeed.farrokhpay@ferc.gov

Barry H. Epstein FITZGERALD,ABBOTT & BEARDSLEY, LLP 1221 BROADWAY, 21ST FLOOR OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 451-3300 bepstein@fablaw.com For: FITZGERLAND, ABBOTT & BEARDSLEY, LLP

Janine L. Scancarelli Attorney At Law FOLGER, LEVIN & KAHN, LLP 275 BATTERY STREET, 23RD FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 986-2800 jscancarelli@flk.com

Rich Lauckhart GLOBAL ENERGY SUITE 200 2379 GATEWAY OAKS DR. SACRAMENTO CA 95833 (916) 569-0985

Ronald Moore (133)

GOLDEN STATE WATER/BEAR VALLEY ELECTRIC 630 EAST FOOTHILL BOULEVARD SAN DIMAS CA 91773 (909) 394-3600 X 682 rkmoore@gswater.com

Diarmuid Mcgarry GREENWOOD ENVIRONMENTAL 330 TOWNSEND ST. SUITE 118 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94107 (415) 541-9653 diarmuid@greenwoodenv.com

For: GREENWOOD ENVIRONMENTAL

Mary Anne Sullivan HAGAN & HARTSON, LLP 555 THIRTEENTH STREET, NW WASHINGTON DC 20006 (202) 637-3695 MASullivan@hhlaw.com

Amy C. Roma HOGAN & HARTSON, LLP 555 THIRTEENTH STREET, N.W. WASHINGTON DC 20004 (202) 637-6831 ACRoma@hhlaw.com

Anders Glader IBERDROLA RENEWABLES 114 MORNING SUN AVENUE MILL VALLEY CA 94941 (415) 388-2767 anders.glader@iberdrolausa.com Amber Riesenhuber Energy Analyst INDEPENDENT ENERGY PRODUCERS ASSOC. 1215 K STREET, SUITE 900 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 448-9499 amber@iepa.com

Peter Brehm INFINIA CORPORATION 6811 OKANOGAN PLACE KENNEWICK WA 99336 (509) 737-2199 pbrehm@infiniacorp.com

Michael J. Gilmore
INLAND ENERGY
SOUTH TOWER SUITE 606
3501 JAMBOREE RD
NEWPORT BEACH CA 92660
(949) 856-2200
michaelgilmore@inlandenergy.com

Alex Kang ITRON, INC. 1111 BROADWAY, STE. 1800 OAKLAND CA 94607 (510) 844-2800 alex.kang@itron.com

Todd Jaffe
Energy Business Brokers And Consultants
3420 KEYSER ROAD
BALTIMORE MD 21208
(410) 602-2589
tjaffe@energybusinessconsultants.com

Nellie Tong Senior Analyst KEMA, INC. 492 NINTH STREET, SUITE 220 OAKLAND CA 94607 (510) 891-0446 nellie.tong@us.kema.com

Kevin Fox KEYES & FOX LLP 5727 KEITH AVENUE OAKLAND CA 94618 (510) 381-3052 kfox@keyesandfox.com

R.06-02-012 ALJ/AES/tcg

DRAFT

Timothy Castille LANDS ENERGY CONSULTING, INC. 18109 SE 42ND STREET VANCOUVER WA 98683 (360) 885-4567 castille@landsenergy.com

Elizabeth Blase LATHAM & WATKINS LLP 505 MONTGOMERY STREET, SUITE 2000 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 391-0600 elizabeth.blase@lw.com

Lynn M. Alexander LMA CONSULTING 129 REDWOOD AVENUE CORTE MADERA CA 94925 (415) 945-9938 lynn@lmaconsulting.com

Patrick Stoner
Program Director
LOCAL GOVERNMENT COMMISSION
1303 J STREET, SUITE 250
SACRAMENTO CA 95814
(916) 448-1198 X 309
pstoner@lgc.org

Paul Fenn LOCAL POWER 35 GROVE STREET SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (510) 451-1727 paulfenn@local.org

Elizabeth Douglass Staff Writer LOS ANGELES TIMES 202 WEST FIRST STREET LOS ANGELES CA 90012 (213) 237-5799

Cynthia Wooten LUMENX CONSULTING, INC. 1126 DELAWARE STREET BERKELEY CA 94702 (510) 525-6309 cwooten@lumenxconsulting.com Richard Mccann M.CUBED 2655 PORTAGE BAY ROAD, SUITE 3 DAVIS CA 95616 (530) 757-6363 rmccann@umich.edu

Jack Mcnamara Attorney At Law MACK ENERGY COMPANY PO BOX 1380 AGOURA HILLS CA 91376-1380 (818) 865-8515 jackmack@suesec.com

Tara S. Kaushik MANATT, PHELPS & PHILLIPS, LLP ONE EMBARCADERO CENTER, 30TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 291-7409 tkaushik@manatt.com

C. Susie Berlin Attorney At Law MCCARTHY & BERLIN LLP 100 W. SAN FERNANDO ST., SUITE 501 SAN JOSE CA 95113 (408) 288-2080 sberlin@mccarthylaw.com

Michael Mcdonald 1103 TIMBERPINE COURT SUNNYVALE CA 94086 (408) 712-5689 michael.mcdonald@ieee.org

Mark Mcewan President MCEWAN ENTERPRISES PO BOX 910 VISTA CA 92085 (760) 505-6873 mtmcewan@gmail.com For: McEwan Enterprises

Cathy S. Woollums
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY HOLDINGS COMPANY
106 EAST SECOND STREET
DAVENPORT IA 52801
(563) 333-8009
cswoollums@midamerican.com

Wes Miller 350 BRYANT STREET MOUNTAIN VIEW CA 94041 (650) 968-8816 wes658@gmail.com

Sean P. Beatty Sr. Mgr. External & Regulatory Affairs MIRANT CALIFORNIA, LLC 696 WEST 10TH ST., PO BOX 192 PITTSBURG CA 94565 (925) 427-3483 sean.beatty@mirant.com

David Olivares
Electric Resource
MODESTO IRRIGATION DISTRICT
PO BOX 4060
MODESTO CA 95352
davido@mid.org
For: Electric Resource Planning and Development Modesto
Irrigation District

Joy A. Warren Regulatory Administrator MODESTO IRRIGATION DISTRICT 1231 11TH STREET MODESTO CA 95354 (209) 526-7389 joyw@mid.org

Thomas S Kimball MODESTO IRRIGATION DISTRICT 1231 11TH STREET MODESTO CA 95352-4060 (209) 557-1510 tomk@mid.org

Peter W. Hanschen Attorney At Law MORRISON & FOERSTER, LLP 101 YGNACIO VALLEY ROAD, SUITE 450 WALNUT CREEK CA 94596 (925) 295-3450 phanschen@mofo.com

Whitney Bardwick MP2 CAPITAL 1101 5TH AVENUE, SUITE 360 SAN RAFAEL CA 94901 (415) 457-5911 Brad Bauer MP2CAPITAL 1101 FIFTH AVENUE, SUITE 360 SAN RAFAEL CA 94901 (415) 457-5911 brad@mp2capital.com

Michael Laine MP2CAPITAL 1101 5TH AVENUE, STE. 360 SAN RAFAEL CA 94901 (415) 457-5911 michael@mp2capital.com

MRW & ASSOCIATES, INC. 1814 FRANKLIN STREET, SUITE 720 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 834-1999 mrw@mrwassoc.com

Audrey Chang Director-California Climate Program NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL 111 SUTTER STREET, 20TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 875-6100 achang@nrdc.org

Noah Long NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL 111 SUTTER STREET, 20TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 875-6100 nlong@nrdc.org

David Oliver NAVIGANT CONSULTING 3100 ZINFANDEL DRIVE, SUITE 600 RANCHO CORDOVA CA 95670 (916) 631-3209 david.oliver@navigantconsulting.com

Erin Ranslow NAVIGANT CONSULTING, INC. 3100 ZINFANDEL DRIVE, SUITE 600 RANCHO CORDOVA CA 95670-6078 (916) 631-3200 cpucrulings@navigantconsulting.com

Fred Wellington NAVIGANT CONSULTING, INC. 1 MARKET ST., SPEAR ST. TOWER, STE 1200 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 356-7132 fred.wellington@navigantconsulting.com

Kirby Dusel NAVIGANT CONSULTING, INC. 3100 ZINFANDEL DRIVE, SUITE 600 RANCHO CORDOVA CA 95670 (916) 834-0684 kdusel@navigantconsulting.com For: San Joaquin Valley Power Authority

Laurie Park
NAVIGANT CONSULTING, INC.
3100 ZINFANDEL DRIVE, SUITE 600
RANCHO CORDOVA CA 95670-6078
(916) 631-3200
lpark@navigantconsulting.com
For: NAVIGANT CONSULTING, INC.

Paul D. Maxwell NAVIGANT CONSULTING, INC. 3100 ZINFANDEL DRIVE, SUITE 600 RANCHO CORDOVA CA 95670-6078 (916) 631-2300 pmaxwell@navigantconsulting.com

Kerry Hattevik Director Of Reg. And Market Affairs NEXTERA ENERGY EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (510) 898-1847 kerry.hattevik@nexteraenergy.com

Diane I. Fellman NEXTERA ENERGY RESOURCES, LLC. 234 VAN NESS AVENUE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-6000 Diane.Fellman@nexteraenergy.com

Christopher A. Hilen NV ENERGY 6100 NEIL ROAD, MS A35 RENO NV 89511 (775) 834-5696 chilen@NVEnergy.com

Connie Silveira NVENERGY 6100 NEIL RD RENO NV 89511 (775) 834-4208 csilveira@nvenergy.com Harold M. Romanowitz OAK CREEK ENERGY SYSTEMS, INC. 14633 WILLOW SPRINGS ROAD MOJAVE CA 93501 (661) 822-6853 hal@rwitz.net For: OAK CREEK ENERGY SYSTEMS, INC.

Valerie Winn Project Manager PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC 77 BEALE STREET, B9A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 973-3839 vjw3@pge.com

Andrew L. Harris
PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY
PO BOX 770000 MAIL CODE B9A
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94177
(415) 973-1596
alho@pge.com

Case Coordination
PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY
PO BOX 770000; MC B9A
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94177
(415) 973-4744
regrelcpuccases@pge.com

Cory M. Mason Attorney At Law PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE STREET, MC B30A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105-1814 (415) 973-2320 cmmw@pge.com For: Pacific Gas and Electric Company

Ed Lucha PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY PO BOX 770000, MAIL CODE B9A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94177 (415) 973-3872 ELL5@pge.com

Grace Livingston-Nunley Assistant Project Manager PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY PO BOX 770000 MAIL CODE B9A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94177 (415) 973-4304 GXL2@pge.com

Matt Gonzales PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY PO BOX 770000, MAIL CODE B9A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94177 MRGG@pge.com

Niels Kjellund PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE STREET, MAIL CODE B9A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105-1814 (415) 973-7512 nxk2@pge.com

Regulatory File Room PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 77 BEALE STREET, B30A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 973-4295 cpuccases@pge.com

Shaun Halverson PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY PG&E MAIL CODE B9A PO BOX 770000 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94177 SEHC@pge.com For: PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

David Saul PACIFIC SOLAR & POWER CORPORATION 2850 W. HORIZON RIDGE PKWY, SUITE 200 HENDERSON NV 89052 (702) 289-4361 dsaul@pacificsolar.net For: Pacific Solar & Power Corporation

Kyle L. Davis PACIFICORP 825 NE MULTNOMAH ST., 20TH FLOOR PORTLAND OR 97232 (503) 813-6601 kyle.l.davis@pacificorp.com

Mark Tucker PACIFICORP 825 NE MULTNOMAH, SUITE 2000 PORTLAND OR 97232 (503) 813-5269 californiadockets@pacificorp.com Jason Payne 5450 MAYME AVE 23 SAN JOSE CA 95129 (408) 338-7771 jrobertpayne@gmail.com

Brooke Reilly PG & E PO BOX 770000, MAIL CODE B9A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94177 bari@pge.com

Maggie Chan PG&E MAILCODE B9A PO BOX 770000 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94177 MMCL@pge.com

Lisa Weinzimer, Associate Editor PLATTS MCGRAW-HILL 695 NINTH AVENUE, NO. 2 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94118 (415) 387-1025 lisa_weinzimer@platts.com

Rick C. Noger PRAXAIR, INC. 2430 CAMINO RAMON DRIVE, STE. 300 SAN RAMON CA 94583 (925) 866-6809 rick_noger@praxair.com

Harvey Eder PUBLIC SOLAR POWER COALITION 1218 12TH ST., 25 SANTA MONICA CA 90401 (310) 393-2589 harveyederpspc@hotmail.com

Richard W. Raushenbush EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000-0000 (415) 518-7887 r.raushenbush@comcast.net

Donald Schoenbeck RCS, INC. 900 WASHINGTON STREET, SUITE 780 VANCOUVER WA 98660 (360) 737-3877 dws@r-c-s-inc.com For: CAC

R.06-02-012 ALJ/AES/tcg

DRAFT

Andre Devilbiss Associate, Development RECURRENT ENERGY 300 CALIFORNIA STREET, 8TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 501-9521 andre.devilbiss@recurrentenergy.com

Jim Howell RECURRENT ENERGY 300 CALIFORNIA ST., 8TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 501-9414 jim.howell@recurrentenergy.com

Arno Harris RECURRENT ENERGY, INC. 1700 MONTGOMERY ST., SUITE 251 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 298-7096 arno@recurrentenergy.com

Jason Abiecunas
Black & Beatch Global Renewable Energy
RENEWABLE ENERGY CONSULTANT
11401 LAMAR
OVERLAND PARK KS 66211
(913) 458-2114
abiecunasjp@bv.com
For: RENEWABLE ENERGY CONSULTANT

Art Rivera RENEWABLE TECHCOM 10243 ELLENWOOD AVE SACRAMENTO CA 95827 (916) 469-9917 artrivera@comcast.net

Tobin Richardson RICHARDSON GROUP 1416 VIGO COURT DAVIS CA 95618 (916) 801-5810 tobinjmr@sbcglobal.net

William P. Short RIDGEWOOD POWER MANAGEMENT, LLC 947 LINWOOD AVENUE RIDGEWOOD NJ 07450 (201) 447-9000 For: RIDGEWOOD POWER MANAGEMENT, LLC Bud Beebe Regulatory Affairs Coordinator SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DIST 6201 S STREET, MS B257 SACRAMENTO CA 95817-1899 (916) 732-5254 bbeebe@smud.org For: Advanced, Renewable, & Distributed Generation Technology

Arlen Orchard Attorney At Law SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 6201 S STREET, M.S. B406 SACRAMENTO CA 95817-1899 (916) 732-5830 aorchar@smud.org

Elaine Sison-Lebrilla SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 6201 S STREET SACRAMENTO CA 95817 (916) 732-7017 esison@smud.org

Michael Deangelis
SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT
6201 S STREET
SACRAMENTO CA 95817-1899
(916) 732-6589
mdeange@smud.org
For: SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT

Obadiah Bartholomy Mechanical Engineer SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 6201 S. STREET, M.S. B257 SACRAMENTO CA 95817 (916) 732-6835 obartho@smud.org

Rob Roth SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 6201 S STREET MS 75 SACRAMENTO CA 95817 (916) 732-6131 rroth@smud.org For: SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT

Vikki Wood SACRAMENTO MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 6301 S STREET, MS A204 SACRAMENTO CA 95817-1899 (916) 732-6278 vwood@smud.org

Hannon Rasool SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC 8330 CENTURY PARK CT. SAN DIEGO CA 92123 (858) 654-1590 hrasool@semprautilities.com

Central Files SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC CO. 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP31-E SAN DIEGO CA 92123 (858) 654-1148 CentralFiles@semprautilities.com For: SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC

Jennifer Wright
California Regulatory Affairs
SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC CO.
8330 CENTURY PARK CT
SAN DIEGO CA 92123
(858) 654-1891
jwright@semprautilities.com
For: SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC

Billy Blattner
Manager Regulatory Relations
SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY
601 VAN NESS AVENUE, SUITE 2060
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102
(415) 202-9986
wblattner@semprautilities.com
For: SDG&E/SoCal Gas

Despina Niehaus SAN DIEGO GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 8330 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP32H SAN DIEGO CA 92123-1530 (858) 654-1714 dniehaus@semprautilities.com Sandra Rovetti Regulatory Affairs Manager SAN FRANCISCO PUC 1155 MARKET STREET, 4TH FLOOR SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103 (415) 554-3179 srovetti@sfwater.org

Daniel A. King SEMPRA ENERGY 101 ASH STREET, HQ 12 SAN DIEGO CA 92101 (619) 696-4350 daking@sempra.com

Yvonne Gross Regulatory Policy Manager SEMPRA ENERGY 101 ASH STREET, HQ08C SAN DIEGO CA 92101 (619) 696-2075 ygross@sempraglobal.com

Thomas P. Corr SEMPRA ENERGY GLOBAL ENTERPRISES 101 ASH STREET, HQ16C SAN DIEGO CA 92101 (619) 696-4246 tcorr@sempra.com

Daniel M. Hecht Associate General Counsel SEMPRA ENERGY TRADING CORP. 58 COMMERCE ROAD STANFORD CT 06902 (203) 355-5417 dhecht@sempratrading.com

Marcie Milner SHELL ENERGY NORTH AMERICA 4445 EASTGATE MALL, SUITE 100 SAN DIEGO CA 92121 (858) 526-2106 marcie.milner@shell.com For: CORAL POWER LLC

Douglas Brooks Nevada Power Company SIERRA PACIFIC POWER COMPANY 6226 WEST SAHARA AVENUE LAS VEGAS NV 89151 (702) 402-5697 dbrooks@nvenergy.com

Elena Mello SIERRA PACIFIC POWER COMPANY 6100 NEIL RD. RENO NV 89511 emello@sppc.com

Trevor Dillard SIERRA PACIFIC POWER COMPANY PO BOX 10100 6100 NEIL ROAD, MS S4A50 RENO NV 89520-0024 (775) 834-5823 tdillard@sppc.com

Eric Cherniss SOLARGEN ENERGY 20400 STEVENS CREEK BLVD, SUITE 700 CUPERTINO CA 95014 (408) 460-8200 eric.cherniss@gmail.com

Mary C. Hoffman SOLUTIONS FOR UTILITIES, INC. 1192 SUNSET DRIVE VISTA CA 92081 (760) 724-4420 mary@solutionsforutilities.com

Gary L. Allen SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-9612 gary.allen@sce.com

Case Administration SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-4875 case.admin@sce.com For: SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY

Brian J. Nese STOEL RIVES, LLP 12707 HIGH BLUFF DRIVE, SUITE 200 SAN DIEGO CA 92130 (858) 350-4387 bjnese@stoel.com Seth D. Hilton STOEL RIVES, LLP 555 MONTGOMERY ST., SUITE 1288 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 617-8943 sdhilton@stoel.com

Janice Lin Managing Partner STRATEGEN CONSULTING LLC EMAIL ONLY EMAIL ONLY CA 00000 (510) 665-7811 janice@strategenconsulting.com

Elizabeth Baker SUMMIT BLUE CONSULTING 1722 14TH STREET, SUITE 230 BOULDER CO 80304 (720) 244-4184 bbaker@summitblue.com

Jennifer Barnes SUMMIT BLUE CONSULTING, LLC 1990 NORTH CALIFORNIA BLVD., SUITE 700 WALNUT CREEK CA 94596 (925) 935-0270 jbarnes@summitblue.com

Timea Zentai SUMMIT BLUE CONSULTING, LLC 1990 NORTH CALIFORNIA AVE., SUITE 700 WALNUT CREEK CA 94596 (925) 935-0270 tzentai@summitblue.com

Ed Smeloff Senior Manager SUNPOWER CORPORATION 1414 HARBOUR WAY SOUTH RICHMOND CA 94804 (510) 289-9082 ed.smeloff@sunpowercorp.com

Joe Greco TERRA-GEN POWER LLC 9590 PROTOTYPE COURT, SUITE 200 RENO NV 89521 (775) 850-2245 jgreco@terra-genpower.com

Erin Grizard THE DEWEY SQUARE GROUP 921 11TH STREET, 10TH FLOOR SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 447-4099 EGrizard@deweysquare.com

Matthew Freedman Attorney At Law THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK 115 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 929-8876 X304 matthew@turn.org

Nina Suetake Attorney At Law THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK 115 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 929-8876 X 308 nsuetake@turn.org

Robert Finkelstein MATTHEW FREEDMAN Legal Director THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK 115 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 929-8876 X-307 bfinkelstein@turn.org

Michel P. Florio Attorney At Law THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK (TURN) 115 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 929-8876 mflorio@turn.org

David Townley 18 BASSWOOD AVENUE OAK PARK CA 91377 (818) 416-4745

Michael Shames UTILITY CONSUMERS ACTION NETWORK 3100 FIFTH AVENUE, SUITE B SAN DIEGO CA 92103 (619) 696-6966 mshames@ucan.org Andrew J. Van Horn VAN HORN CONSULTING 12 LIND COURT ORINDA CA 94563 (925) 254-3358 andy.vanhorn@vhcenergy.com

Judith Kim WAL-MART STORES, INC. 2001 SE 10TH STREET BENTONVILLE AR 72716-0550 judith.kim@walmartlegal.com

Robin J. Walther 1380 OAK CREEK DRIVE, NO. 316 PALO ALTO CA 94304-2016 (650) 793-7445 rwalther@pacbell.net

Lon W. House, Ph.D WEC 4901 FLYING C RD. CAMERON PARK CA 95682 (530) 676-8956 lwhouse@innercite.com

Keith White 312 KELLER ST PETALUMA CA 94952 keithwhite@earthlink.net

Sheridan J. Pauker WILSON SONSINI GOODRICH & ROSATI SPEAR TOWER, SUITE 3300 ONE MARKET ST SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 947-2136 spauker@wsgr.com

(END OF APPENDIX E)

INFORMATION REGARDING SERVICE

I have provided notification of filing to the electronic mail addresses on the attached service list (Appendix E).

Upon confirmation of this document's acceptance for filing, I will cause a Notice of Availability of the filed document to be served upon the service list to this proceeding by U.S. mail. The service list I will use to serve the Notice of Availability of the filed document is current as of today's date.

Dated December 23, 2009, at San Francisco, California.



NOTICE

Parties should notify the Process Office, Public Utilities Commission, 505 Van Ness Avenue, Room 2000, San Francisco, CA 94102, of any change of address to ensure that they continue to receive documents. You must indicate the proceeding number on the service list on which your name appears.

The Commission's policy is to schedule hearings (meetings, workshops, etc.) in locations that are accessible to people with disabilities. To verify that a particular location is accessible, call: Calendar Clerk (415) 703-1203.

If specialized accommodations for the disabled are needed, e.g., sign language interpreters, those making the arrangements must call the Public Advisor at (415) 703-2074 or TDD# (415) 703-2032 five working days in advance of the event.